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Crystallex

Crystallex International Corporation, headquartered in Toronto, Canada,
has a sixteen year history of investing, building and operating projects
in Venezuela. Its principal asset is the Mine Operating Contract for the
Las Cristinas property in Bolivar State. The Company’s objective is to
become a significant intermediate gold producer with the advancement
of Las Cristinas.
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Crystallex plans to construct Las Cristinas on a modular basis beginning at
20,000 tonnes per day (“tpd”) upon issuance of the pending environmental
permit. To date, cash expenditures of approximately US$290 million have been
made by Crystallex on the Las Cristinas Project. Currently, the engineering and
design work is essentially complete and the long-lead items have been fabricated
and are in storage. Based on a 2007 study, the first five years of operation at
Las Cristinas are expected to produce approximately 252,000 ounces per year
at total cash costs in the order of US$258 per ounce.
The Company’s shares are traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange and
on the NYSE Amex Exchange, under the symbol KRY.
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(All monetary figures are expressed in United States dollars, unless otherwise specified)
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Our strengths
The Las Cristinas asset

• Investing in and operating gold projects
in Venezuela for more than 16 years
• To date, Crystallex has permitted, built and
operated 3 gold mines in Venezuela
• To date, Crystallex has made approximately
US$290 million in cash expenditures on the
Las Cristinas Project
• Las Cristinas Project at advanced stage and
designed to allow doubling of throughput
• Approximately 17 million ounces of reserves
• The initial module of 20,000 tpd is designed
to produce approximately 252,000 ounces Au
at a cash cost of US$258 per oz
Las Cristinas
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Letter to Shareholders

Beyond Feasibility

From the Chairman and CEO
Dear Fellow Shareholders

Crystallex is committed to unlocking the value at Las Cristinas. Despite 2008’s significant
challenges, Crystallex continues to find support for the development of the Las Cristinas
Project. We believe that a responsible large scale mining operation at Las Cristinas will
benefit Venezuela, the local communities, and all the stakeholders. The construction
and subsequent operation of the Las Cristinas Project will stimulate the local economy
and rehabilitate the environmental damage created by decades of illegal small scale
mining.
2008 proved to be a very frustrating year for investors as Crystallex faced environmental
permitting delays for Las Cristinas. Progress was impeded by the ebbs and flows of
the permitting process for the final environmental permit required to allow construction
to begin. Let me summarize the major milestones:
• In 2007 - The Ministry of Environment (“MinAmb”), through a letter issued by the ViceMinister, formally approved the Las Cristinas Environmental Impact Study (“EIS”) and
requested the Construction Guarantee Bond and the Environmental Tax payment in order
to process and issue the Las Cristinas Environmental Permit to Affect Natural Resources
(“Permit”). Crystallex posted the Bond and paid the Tax
• April 2008 - A Director General within MinAmb issued a letter citing specific laws advising
that the pending environmental permit not be approved
• May 2008 - Crystallex filed a rebuttal under Venezuelan Administrative Law regarding the
Director General’s letter
• June 2008 - Crystallex was called into meetings with the Government to discuss permitting
for Las Cristinas and possible modifications to the Project in order for the Permit to be issued
• August 2008 - Crystallex submitted a proposal to modify the Las Cristinas plans as discussed
with the Government. MinAmb officials visited the Project and confirmed in writing to
Crystallex that the Project and modifications meet the government’s environmental and
social requirements and must be considered for Permit issuance
• November 2008 - Media reports attributed comments to Senior Venezuelan Officials that
the Las Cristinas Mine Operating Contract (“MOC”) could be rescinded
• November 2008 - Crystallex delivered a letter to the Government of Venezuela notifying
it of a dispute under the treaty between the Government of Canada and the Government
of Venezuela for the Promotion and Protection of Investments. If the dispute is not settled
amicably within six months from the date of that letter, Crystallex has the option of
submitting the dispute to international arbitration
• December 2008 - Contact and communication with Senior Venezuela Government Officials
continued to evidence support for Crystallex, the validity of its MOC and that the Government
was undertaking its process with respect to the issuance of the Permit
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Las Cristinas
camp

250,000 ounces/yr
The Permitting Process for Las Cristinas
The environmental permitting process was formally launched in April 2004, when Crystallex
and the Corporacion Venezolana de Guayana (“CVG”) submitted an EIS for Las Cristinas to
the MinAmb for consideration. The submission and process included extensive dialogue, the
submission of additional technical reports, questions, meetings, and hearings between Crystallex,
the CVG and the MinAmb officials.
Concurrent with the MinAmb environmental permitting process, a review, approval and permitting
process was undertaken with the Ministry of Basic Industry and Mines (“MIBAM”) and its
predecessor, the Ministry of Energy and Mines. In August 2004, the Land Occupation Permit for
Las Cristinas was confirmed. The Land Occupation Permit authorized the use of the Las Cristinas
properties for the purpose of mining, and was a critical element of the permitting process
for the Project.
In March 2006, the MIBAM approved the Las Cristinas Feasibility Study and development plans,
clearing the path for the construction phase once the MinAmb approved the EIS and issued
the Permit.
In June 2007, the Company was notified that the MinAmb formally approved and accepted the
Las Cristinas EIS. The MinAmb formally requested a Construction Compliance Guarantee Bond
and a specific Environmental Tax, outlined as the final steps, in order for MinAmb to process and
issue the Las Cristinas Permit. Crystallex posted the requested Bond and paid the associated Tax.
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In October 2007, a Permanent Committee of the Venezuelan National Assembly requested
MinAmb Officials to testify at the Venezuelan National Assembly regarding the status of the
Las Cristinas Project. The MinAmb Officials testified that all requirements for Las Cristinas had
been fulfilled and that the Environmental Permit would be issued.
Surprisingly, in late April 2008, the Company was advised by the CVG of a letter from a Director
General in the MinAmb questioning environmental aspects of the Las Cristinas Project and
indicating that the expansion of mining activities in the Imataca Forest region was contrary to
environmental regulations in force. The letter also stated that the pending Permit for Las Cristinas
would not be approved.
In an effort to remove any effect of the Director General’s letter, Crystallex filed a legal rebuttal
under Venezuelan Administrative Law. The rebuttal argued that the position taken by the Director
General was in conflict with the Las Cristinas EIS approval, the Construction Compliance Guarantee
Bond request and Environmental Tax request already issued by MinAmb. The Director General’s
letter also appeared to contradict normal mineral mining practices in the Imataca Forest Region
and did not conform to the treatment of either current and/or historic projects. In addition, the
Company has been advised that the position contradicted Presidential Decrees, National Assembly
Resolutions, MinAmb Resolutions and MIBAM Resolutions.
Local indigenous communities and Venezuelan Officials voiced continued support for the
development of the Las Cristinas Project and other mining projects in the region.
In June 2008, Crystallex was invited by the MinAmb Vice-Minister to a meeting where Crystallex
was advised that MinAmb had been instructed by the Government to reconsider issuance of the
Las Cristinas Environmental Permit through discussions with Crystallex on possible modifications
of the Las Cristinas Project, which could enable the Permit to be issued.
The Company also received the official minutes of a meeting held by the Permanent Committee
for Economic Development of the National Assembly. The Committee held a public hearing on
June 4, 2008 to discuss the delay of the Las Cristinas Project. At the meeting, representatives
of the MIBAM confirmed their support for Crystallex and its compliance with all procedural and
administrative steps up to the letter by the MinAmb Director General.
In August 2008, Crystallex received an official letter from the MinAmb, notifying Crystallex that
MinAmb had reviewed the project modifications report on Las Cristinas submitted by Crystallex
and found that the proposals in the report were viable and conformed to the Environmental and
Social guidelines of the Venezuelan Government. The letter also advised that these findings
must be taken into account for the decision the government was to make regarding the Permit
for the Las Cristinas Project.
The Company still awaits the issuance of the Permit.
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Improvements
include the local
community
sewage treatment
plant

Local improvements
Status of the MOC
Subsequent to the signing of the Las Cristinas MOC in September 2002, and because of the
large size of the deposit, adverse comments have appeared in the media questioning the status
of the MOC. In late 2008, reports and comments attributed to various officials, including President
Chavez, raised concerns for investors. However, in spite of the multitude of meetings with Senior
Government Officials, the Company has not been notified of changes in position or support by
the Venezuelan Government regarding the Las Cristinas Project or the MOC. I can report to you
that Crystallex is continuing to perform its obligations under the MOC at the Las Cristinas site.
Crystallex staff and representatives are in frequent and on-going communication with Senior
Venezuelan Officials, who have raised no concerns regarding the status of the MOC with the
Company. In fact, on March 2, 2009, the CVG confirmed in writing that the Company was
in compliance with the MOC.

Company Update
Reducing Overhead and Cash Burn Rates
It is imperative, in order to safeguard stakeholder value, that Crystallex remains in compliance
with the MOC. In order to remain in compliance with the MOC, Crystallex continues to employ
personnel at site, maintain and operate the Las Cristinas camp and complete the two remaining
social infrastructure projects, namely a sewage treatment plant and a medical facility. Employing
personnel at site and operating the camp requires providing security, catering and housekeeping
services, staff transportation to and from site, maintenance of temporary power facilities and the
main access road, as well as various general and administrative functions. The Company has
taken all prudent steps to reduce expenditures not governed by the MOC. Personnel have been
reduced in all locations, from North America to the Caracas office, Las Cristinas and the El Callao
operations. The majority of the employees that were at the El Callao operations have now been
terminated (169 have been terminated or transferred to Minerven and 16 remained at year end).
The Company is required to undertake reclamation activities at El Callao, which are currently
estimated to cost $2.3 million.
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At Las Cristinas, all engineering activities, component purchases, and drilling programs have been
stopped. Security costs at Las Cristinas were reduced by 50% in 2008. The Houston office has
been closed and the corporate office in Toronto relocated to a smaller and less expensive office.

Social and Corporate Responsibility Programs
Over the years, Crystallex has undertaken a number of Corporate and Social Responsibility
Programs around the neighbouring communities, in compliance with its MOC. As a part of the
Las Cristinas MOC, certain programs were outlined and required. Some of the programs completed
by Cystallex have included the construction of 30 new homes for local residents, the installation
of three water treatment plants, establishing a dental facility for the local communities, supplying
on an ongoing basis medical supplies to the existing medical facility, and the establishment of an
anti-malaria facility. Crystallex has also funded local education scholarship and internship programs
and provided ongoing job training programs to small miners’ associations.
Construction of a new 10,000 square foot Medical Facility and a Sewage Treatment plant for the
Las Claritas/Santa Domingo communities in Kilometre 88 are expected to be completed in the
second quarter of 2009.
During 2008 discussions with MinAmb, the Company was asked to consider additional social
and corporate responsibility programs, including reforestation programs and a more concurrent
clean-up of areas impacted by historic illegal mining activities by garimperos. Crystallex was also
asked to assist in the design of a transportation system for local communities and in the formation
of a local water company.

Disposition of the El Callao Assets
During the fall of 2008, Crystallex entered into an agreement with the Venezuelan Government
to divest its interests in the Revemin Mill. Ore from the various deposits which Crystallex operated
in the area had essentially been exhausted. Crystallex processed ore from various mines in
El Callao including the Tomi Open Pits, Tomi Underground, La Victoria and certain materials
from local cooperatives through Revemin.

“We believe that a responsible large
scale mining operation at Las Cristinas
will benefit Venezuela, the local
communities, and all the stakeholders”.
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Core shack at
Las Cristinas

17 million ounces
Management Changes and Acknowledgements
In June of 2008, I was appointed Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) upon Gordon Thompson’s
resignation as the Company’s President and CEO. In addition to these responsibilities, I continue
to serve as Chairman of our Company, a position that I have been honoured to hold since 1998.
I welcome the added responsibilities, duties and challenges which lie ahead as we work towards
bringing the Las Cristinas deposit into production. At the same time, Robert Crombie was
appointed as the President. Gordon Thompson remains a Crystallex Board member.
I would like to thank the Crystallex Board of Directors for their significant time, advice and direction
in 2008. I would also like to thank the management team and all the Crystallex employees in
North America and Venezuela. Additionally, I wish to thank our investors and other stakeholders
for their patience and support during these trying times.

Sincerely,

Robert Fung
Crystallex Chairman and CEO
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Environmental and Social Responsibilities
Improving the Future for Venezuelans
Local community
Medical Facility
nears completion

Responsibilities
Environmental Protection and Restoration is a Top Priority
Crystallex believes that sustainable development will improve the future for all of the Venezuelans
who live in the proximity of Las Cristinas together with all its stakeholders. The Company strives
to ensure that our activities comply with applicable environmental laws and standards. In regions
where laws and standards may be incomplete, we apply international practices to ensure that
we achieve our environmental objectives.
The Board and our Chief Executive Officer, as well as every single employee share in the
responsibility for meeting this commitment in the communities and the environment in which
we operate.
Corporate and Social Responsibility
Over the years, Crystallex has undertaken a number of Corporate and Social Responsibility
Programs around the neighboring communities in Kilometre 88 including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the installation of three water treatment plants
establishing an anti-malaria facility
establishing a dental facility for the local communities
supplying on an on-going basis medical supplies to the existing medical facility
establishing and funding local education scholarship and internship programs
job training programs for small miners’ associations
construction of a new 10,000 square foot Medical Facility
construction of sewage collection, infrastructure and treatment plant

Additional Social and Corporate Responsibility programs will be undertaken during the
construction phase and subsequent operating phase of Las Cristinas.
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Mineral Reserves and Resources
Las Cristinas

The following table summarizes the mineral reserves and resources at the Las Cristinas Project as at December 31, 2008. The mineral
reserve and resource estimates have been prepared in accordance with the standards of the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy
and Petroleum and NI 43-101 and, as set out in the notes below, are based on technical reports prepared by independent experts,
or have been prepared by the Corporation under the direction of, and verified by, Dr. Richard Spencer, P. Geo., a Qualified Person
and former VP Exploration of Crystallex International Corporation.
Mineral resources are not mineral reserves and do not have demonstrated economic viability, but do have reasonable prospects for
economic extraction. Measured and indicated mineral resources are sufficiently well defined to allow geological and grade continuity
to be reasonably assumed and permit the application of technical and economic parameters in assessing the economic viability of
the resource. Inferred resources are estimated on limited information not sufficient to verify geological and grade continuity and
to allow technical and economic parameters to be applied. Inferred resources are too speculative geologically to have economic
considerations applied to them to enable them to be categorized as mineral reserves. There is no certainty that mineral resources
will be upgraded to mineral reserves through continued exploration. For U.S. investors, please refer to the Cautionary Note on
page 10.

Reserves
Tonnes

Proven

Probable

TOTAL

Contained
Grade
Gold
(g/t)
(oz)

Contained
Grade
Gold
(g/t)
(oz)

Contained
Grade
Gold
(g/t)
(oz)

Tonnes

Tonnes

(tonnes and ounces in thousands)

Las Cristinas Project

(1)

112,761

1.24

4,483

351,601

1.10

12,379

464,362

1.13

16,862

Resources (2)
Measured
Tonnes

Grade
(g/t)

Contained
Gold
(oz)

Indicated
Tonnes

Grade
(g/t)

Contained
Gold
(oz)

TOTAL
Tonnes

Grade
(g/t)

Contained
Gold
(oz)

165,021

0.73

3,899

(tonnes and ounces in thousands)

Las Cristinas Project

(2)

33,380

0.84

897

131,641

0.71

3,002

Resources (3)
Inferred
Tonnes

Contained
Grade
Gold
(g/t)
(oz)

(tonnes and ounces in thousands)

Las Cristinas Project (3)

229,626

0.85

6,276

Notes:
(1) The mineral reserves and resources for the Las Cristinas Project are based on estimates prepared by Mine Development Associates, Inc.
(“MDA”) (Steven Ristorcelli, P. Geo. and Thomas L. Dyer, P. Eng. of MDA were the Qualified Persons) in the 2007 Technical Report Update.
The mineral reserves estimated by MDA are based on a US$550 per ounce gold price and cut-off grades ranging from 0.33 grams of gold
per tonne to 0.57 grams of gold per tonne depending on the mineral type. The mineral resources estimated by MDA are based on a
cut-off grade of 0.5 grams of gold per tonne.
(2) Mineral resources are in addition to and do not include mineral reserves.
(3) The inferred resources are based on a cut-off grade of 0.5 grams of gold per tonne.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended December 31, 2008
(All monetary figures are expressed in United States dollars, unless otherwise specified)
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial condition and results of the
operations of Crystallex International Corporation (“Crystallex” or the “Company”) is intended to
supplement and complement the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and the related
notes as at and for the year ended December 31, 2008. This MD&A should be read in conjunction
with those audited consolidated financial statements.
The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in United States (“U.S.”) dollars and in
accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). All monetary figures in this
MD&A are expressed in U.S. dollars unless otherwise specified.
This MD&A was prepared on March 31, 2009 and the Company’s public filings, including its most recent
Financial Statements and Annual Information Form, can be accessed through the System for Electronic
Document Analysis and Retrieval (“SEDAR”) website at www.sedar.com and the Company’s website at
www.crystallex.com.

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
Certain statements included or incorporated by reference in this MD&A, including information as to the future
financial or operating performance of the Company, its subsidiaries and its projects, constitute forwardlooking statements. The words “believe”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “contemplate”, “target”, “plan”, “intends”,
“continue”, “budget”, “estimate”, “may”, “schedule” and similar expressions identify forward-looking
statements. Forward-looking statements include, among other things, statements regarding targets, estimates
and assumptions in respect of gold production and prices, operating costs, results and capital expenditures,
mineral reserves and mineral resources and anticipated grades and recovery rates. Forward-looking
statements are necessarily based upon a number of estimates and assumptions that, while considered
reasonable by the Company, are inherently subject to significant business, economic, competitive, political
and social uncertainties and contingencies. Many factors could cause the Company’s actual results to differ
materially from those expressed or implied in any forward-looking statements made by, or on behalf of, the
Company. Such factors include, among others, risks relating to additional funding requirements, reserve and
resource estimates, gold prices, exploration, development and operating risks, illegal miners, political and
foreign risk, uninsurable risks, competition, limited mining operations, production risks, environmental
regulation and liability, government regulation, currency fluctuations, recent losses and write-downs and
dependence on key employees. See “Risk Factors” section of this MD&A. Due to risks and uncertainties,
including the risks and uncertainties identified above, actual events may differ materially from current
expectations. Investors are cautioned that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future
performance and, accordingly, investors are cautioned not to put undue reliance on forward-looking
statements due to the inherent uncertainty therein. Forward-looking statements are made as of the date
of this MD&A and the Company disclaims any intent or obligation to update publicly such forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or results or otherwise.

Cautionary Note to U.S. Investors
The terms “proven mineral reserve” and “probable mineral reserve” used in this report are Canadian mining
terms as defined in accordance with National Instrument 43-101 - Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects
under the guidelines set out in the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum (“CIM”) Standards
on Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves, adopted by the CIM Council on August 20, 2000 as may be
amended from time to time by the CIM. These definitions differ from the definitions in the SEC’s Industry
Guide 7. The terms, “measured mineral resource”, “indicated mineral resource” and “inferred mineral
resource” used in this report are Canadian mining terms as defined in accordance with National Instrument
43-101. While the terms “measured mineral resource”, “indicated mineral resource”, and “inferred mineral
resource” are recognized and required by Canadian regulations, they are not defined terms under Industry
Guide 7 and normally are not permitted to be used in reports and registration statements filed with the SEC.
As such, information contained in this report concerning descriptions of resources under Canadian standards
may not be comparable to similar information made public by U.S. companies in SEC filings. With respect to
“indicated mineral resource” and “inferred mineral resource” there is a great amount of uncertainty as to their
10
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existence and a great uncertainty as to their economic and legal feasibility. It cannot be assumed that all or
any part of an “indicated mineral resource” or “inferred mineral resource” will ever be upgraded to a higher
category. Investors are cautioned not to assume that any part or all of mineral deposits in these categories
will ever be converted into reserves.

Overview
Crystallex is a Canadian-based mining company engaged in the development of gold properties in Venezuela.
Its common shares (symbol: KRY) are traded on both the Toronto Stock Exchange and the NYSE Amex.

Las Cristinas
•

The Company’s principal asset is its interest in the Las Cristinas Gold Project located in Bolivar State,
Venezuela. The Company’s interests in the Las Cristinas concessions are derived from a Mine Operating
Contract (the “MOC”) with the Corporación Venezolana de Guayana (the “CVG”) which grants Crystallex
exclusive rights to develop and mine the gold deposits on the Las Cristinas property.

•

The Company has not received a response from the Minister of Environment and Natural Resources
(“MinAmb”) to its June 16, 2008 appeal of the Director General of the Administrative Office of Permits
at MinAmb denying its request for the Permit for the Las Cristinas Project.

•

On March 2, 2009, the CVG confirmed that the Company was in compliance with the MOC. This
corroborates the Company’s position that it is not in default of the MOC and there is no change in
control under the terms of the MOC.

•

The Company plans to remain compliant with the MOC in order to protect the option of proceeding
to arbitration, if necessary.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
•

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2008 were $34.5 million.

•

The Company forecasts that it will have sufficient cash to fund its operations through the end of 2009
(see “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section).

Financial Results
•

Losses from continuing operations were $21.8 million ($0.07 per share) and $22.2 million ($0.09 per share)
for 2008 and 2007, respectively.

•

Losses from discontinued operations at El Callao were $3.9 million and $8.2 million for 2008 and 2007,
respectively.

•

Losses from operations were $25.7million ($0.09 per share) and $30.5 million ($0.12 per share) for 2008
and 2007, respectively.

Legal Matters
•

The Company is currently in the early stages of preparing for its defence against an action taken by
holders of its $100 million notes due December 2011. The Company has strong defences to this action
which it vigorously opposes and believes to be without merit.

•

The Company and certain officers and/or directors have been named as defendants in a proposed class
action lawsuit commenced in the United States. This action is in its preliminary stage, however, Crystallex
believes that the complaint is without merit and will vigorously defend itself against this action.

Beyond Feasibility Construction Ready
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Las Cristinas Permit
On September 17, 2002, Crystallex entered into a non-assignable Mine Operating Contract with the CVG,
acting under the authority of the Ministry of Energy and Mines of Venezuela, under which Crystallex was
granted the exclusive right to explore, develop and exploit the Las Cristinas 4, 5, 6 and 7 concessions
including the processing of gold for its subsequent commercialization and sale.
In May 2007, the CVG was formally notified by the Ministry of Environment and Natural Resources,
(“MinAmb”) that all requirements had been fulfilled for the issuance of the Authorization to Affect Natural
Resources (the “Permit”) which is required to commence construction of the mine; however, the Permit was
not issued. In April, 2008, the Director General of the Administrative Office of Permits at MinAmb issued a
letter to the CVG denying its request for the Permit for the Las Cristinas Project. In May 2008, the Company
filed a challenge to this denial. This challenge was denied by the Director General on May 30, 2008 and
the Company was advised by the Director General to appeal directly to the Minister of MinAmb.
On June 16, 2008, the Company filed an appeal (the “Appeal”) with the Minister of MinAmb. The Company
has not received a response to this Appeal. The Minister of MinAmb is obligated to issue a decision on this
Appeal; however, if no decision is issued within 90 business days of submitting the Appeal (by October 30,
2008), Venezuelan law allows the Company to elect to deem the Appeal as being denied in order to avail
itself of additional legal avenues in Venezuela. Although the deadline for the Minister’s response has passed,
the Company has yet not invoked this right.
In August, 2008, the Company, at the request of the Vice-Minister of MinAmb, filed a report that dealt
with modifications to the Project, which were accepted by the Vice-Minister. The Vice-Minister of MinAmb
issued an official letter which indicated that the modifications complied with government guidelines on
environmental and social matters and were technically viable. The letter further noted that the foregoing
should be considered by the Minister of MinAmb in rendering her decision on the Permit.
The Company has received express and implicit confirmation of its rights and the acceptability of its
performance from Venezuelan officials with whom it interacts. These confirmations have at times been
contradicted by public statements made by government officials suggesting that the Company will either not
obtain the Permit or will lose control of Las Cristinas. The Company has not received any official notification
from any government entity concerning changes to the control of Las Cristinas or to the MOC. On March 2,
2009, the CVG confirmed in writing that the Company was in compliance with the MOC, which corroborates
the Company’s status of being in continued control of the Project.
The Company is taking the necessary steps to protect its shareholder and stakeholder rights, including
preserving its rights to pursue legal avenues both inside and outside of Venezuela. In November 2008, the
Company delivered a letter to the Government of the Republic of Venezuela notifying it of the existence of a
dispute between the Company and the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela under the Agreement between the
Government of Canada and the Government of Venezuela for the Promotion and Protection of Investments
(the “Treaty”). It is Crystallex’s desire to settle the dispute amicably within the six month negotiation period
established by the Treaty. If the dispute has not been settled amicably within six months, Crystallex has
the option of submitting the dispute to international arbitration under the terms of the Treaty.
The Company has been advised that the MOC remains in full force and effect. Additionally, the Company
has been advised that by remaining in full compliance with the MOC while it continues to resolve the
permitting matter during the six month period initiated by the delivery of the dispute letter to the Venezuelan
government, the Company will preserve options for a settlement of the dispute. Accordingly, the Company
has determined that it is in the best interest of all stakeholders to remain compliant with the MOC and incur
the consequent expenditures which is supported by ongoing permitting discussions with government officials
and protects the option of international arbitration in the alternative. The Company continuously assesses
developments in the permitting process and will carefully review its options in the absence of a positive
outcome at the end of the six month waiting period for the international arbitration option.
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El Callao Discontinued Operations
On October 1, 2008, the Revemin mill and related assets located in El Callao, Venezuela reverted by contract
to the State of Venezuela as a result of the expiry of the operating agreement relating to the mill. At the same
time, the Company ceased all mining operations at the Tomi and La Victoria mines which supplied ore
to this mill. Subsequent to October 1, 2008, all mill operating employees at Revemin and some of the mining
employees accepted offers of employment with Minerven, a Venezuelan State owned company. The Company
paid Minerven compensation for all severance costs relating to those employees whose employment was
assumed by Minerven and has terminated most of the remaining mining employees. The Company is currently
negotiating with the State of Venezuela the transfer of all of the Tomi and La Victoria mining concessions
which did not form part of the mill contract. Until final negotiations are settled and definitive resolutions
reached, the liability for the asset retirement obligations for certain previous mining and processing activities
at El Callao will remain with the Company. In the event that the Company is not successful in negotiating such
transfers, the Company estimates that $2.3 million may be incurred to remediate the areas affected by mining
activities at El Callao.The Company maintains a small workforce to oversee reclamation activities and to
assist in negotiating the transfer of such properties to Minerven.

Noteholders’ Action
In December 2008, the Company was served with a Notice of Application (the “Application”) by the trustee
for the holders (the “Noteholders”) of the $100 million senior unsecured notes. The trustee, on behalf of
certain Noteholders, is, among other things, seeking a declaration from the Court that there has been
a project change of control (a “Project Change of Control”) event as defined in the First Supplemental
Indenture made as of December 23, 2004 thereby requiring Crystallex to accelerate payment and purchase
all of the notes of each Noteholder, who has so requested, at a price equal to 102% of the principal amount
of the notes, together with accrued and unpaid interest to the date of purchase.
A Project Change of Control is defined as “the occurrence of any transaction as a result of which Crystallex
ceases to beneficially own, directly or indirectly, at least a majority interest in the Las Cristinas Project asset”.
In the alternative, the trustee is seeking permission from the Court to commence a derivative action in the
name of and on behalf of Crystallex. The proposed derivative action is one which would require the Company
to bring an action against its entire Board of Directors. The essence of the proposed derivative action is that
the Board of Directors pursued the Las Cristinas Project for longer than it ought to have pursued it and
that the directors have allegedly mismanaged certain aspects of Crystallex’s operations in Venezuela.
In relation to the Application, the trustee for the Noteholders brought a motion seeking certain interim relief.
The current schedule calls for the interim Application to be argued April 8-9, 2009, with the balance of the
Application to be argued in early May, 2009.
The Company has strong defences to this action and is vigorously opposing both the Application and the
Interim Motion. In particular, the Company believes that the Noteholders’ allegation that there has been a
Project Change of Control has no merit. At this stage in the process and as the parties are still exchanging
materials, the Company cannot provide an assignment of what, if any, losses it may suffer as a result of
this proceeding.
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Proposed Class Action
The Company and certain officers and/or directors have been named as defendants in a putative securities
fraud class action commenced on December 8, 2008, in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of New York. The plaintiffs in the lawsuit are described as investors who acquired the Company’s
common stock during the period of July 28, 2005 to April 30, 2008, inclusive (the “Proposed Class Period”).
The complaint alleges that the defendants made several statements during the Proposed Class Period about
Las Cristinas, and that the issuance of the Permit in connection with that project was imminent and
guaranteed to be issued to the Company. The complaint asserts that the defendants “did not have, during
the Class Period, a reasonable expectation that the Company would receive the required permit,” and that
on April 30, 2008, the Permit was, in fact, denied. The proposed class action seeks compensatory damages
plus costs and fees, alleging violations of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange
Act”) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by each of the defendants and violations of Section 20(a)
of the Exchange Act by the individual defendants.
On February 6, 2009, certain purported purchasers of Crystallex common stock and their respective counsel
have filed motions for Appointment of Lead Plaintiff and Lead Counsel pursuant to Section 21D of the
Exchange Act (the “Lead Plaintiff Motions”). Pursuant to Stipulation and Order, dated February 12, 2009,
defendants’ time to respond to the complaint is adjourned until a time to be agreed upon after the resolution
of the Lead Plaintiff Motions.
Crystallex believes that the complaint is without merit and intends to defend vigorously against the action.
However, because the action is in preliminary stages, the Company cannot provide assurances as to the
outcome of the action, nor can the range of losses, if any, be estimated. Accordingly, no losses have been
accrued.

Financing
On February 11, 2008, the Company completed a public offering of 32.89 million units at CDN$2.10 per
unit for gross proceeds of CDN$69.1 million including 4.29 million units issuable upon the exercise of the
over-allotment option by the syndicate of underwriters. The net proceeds received by the Company, after
deducting cash issuance costs of $4.6 million, was $64.1 million.
The fundamentals for gold are expected to remain positive in the current year and despite the financial
market uncertainty and volatility, a number of gold companies have successfully completed equity financings
in the first quarter of 2009, although dilution has been significant for some smaller companies.

Selected Annual Information
$000, except per share

Financial results
Loss from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Net loss
Loss per share from continuing operations - Basic and diluted
Loss per share - Basic and diluted
Weighted average shares - Basic and diluted (millions)
Cash flow used in operating activities
Investing activities
Expenditures on Las Cristinas
Sale of equipment
Financing activities
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
Outstanding debt
Shareholders’ equity
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2008

2007

2006

(21,807)
(3,913)
(25,720)
(0.07)
(0.09)
291.0
(22,775)

(22,230)
(8,221)
(30,451)
(0.09)
(0.12)
256.7
(29,393)

(34,096)
(1,588)
(35,684)
(0.15)
(0.15)
230.2
(29,355)

(28,097)
6,039
64,326
34,520
382,464
86,746
267,796

(26,893)
–
51,320
16,065
339,240
83,291
228,407

(49,788)
–
85,001
28,573
324,695
87,697
199,481
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•

Loss from continuing operations was slightly lower in 2008 than 2007 due to a 39% reduction of general
and administrative expenses of $8.4 million, a gain on sale of equipment of $1.8 million offset by a
reduction in foreign exchange gain of $9 million mostly relating to the foreign exchange translation
of future income tax liability.

•

Loss from continuing operations was lower in 2007 than 2006 due to an increase in foreign exchange gain
of $10.4 million mostly relating to the foreign exchange translation of future income tax liability.

•

Loss from discontinued operations relate to the gold mining operations at El Callao. As at September 30,
2008, the Company ceased mining operations at El Callao due to the handover of the Revemin mill to
the State of Venezuela on October 1, 2008.

•

Cash flow used in operating activities from continuing operations declined in 2008 due mostly to the
reduction in general and administrative expenses.

•

Expenditures on Las Cristinas increased by $1.2 million in 2008 compared to 2007 as the Company
increased construction activities to meet its social commitments under the MOC.

•

Expenditures on Las Cristinas decreased by $22.9 million in 2007 compared to 2006 as a result of the
reduction of expenditures relating to engineering and equipment procurement which had peaked in
2005.

•

The Company completed a public offering in 2008 for $64.1 million and in 2007 also completed a public
offering for net proceeds of $50.7 million.

•

In 2006, the Company completed a public offering for $26.9 million, a private placement for $30.3
million, and received $4.3 million under an equity drawdown facility, in addition to $6.0 million that
was received upon the exercise of warrants. Debt repayments were $5.2 million on debt that was
subsequently paid off during early 2007.

•

Cash and cash equivalents were $34.5 million at December 31, 2008 compared to $16.1 million at
December 31, 2007.

Summary of Quarterly Results (Unaudited)
$,000 except per share

2008
Q4

(Loss) income from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations
Net (loss) income
Unrealized (loss) gain on translation of future
income taxes included in loss from
continuing operations
Loss per share from continuing operations Basic and diluted
Loss per share - Basic and diluted

Q3

Q1

(1,613)
(5,960)
(7,573)

(10,210)
215
(9,995)

(13,441)
2,239
(11,202)

4,212

6,504

(3,769)

(6,139)

(0.03)
(0.03)

(0.05)
(0.04)

(0.01)
(0.01)

(0.01)
(0.03)

$,000 except per share

2007
Q4

(Loss) income from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations
Net loss
Unrealized (loss) gain on translation of future
income taxes included in loss from
continuing operations
(Loss) income per share from continuing
operations - Basic and diluted
Loss per share - Basic and diluted

Q2

3,457
(407)
3,050

Q3

Q2

Q1

(9,169)
382
(8,787)

(4,957)
(1,765)
(6,722)

(8,997)
(3,126)
(12,123)

893
(3,712)
(2,819)

956

2,534

1,580

9,252

(0.03)
(0.03)

(0.02)
(0.03)
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(0.03)
(0.05)

0.00
(0.01)
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•

The results of operations in the four quarters of 2008 indicate a significant decline in losses from the first
quarter to the fourth quarter. These results, however, include unrealized losses on translation of future
income tax liability in the first two quarters followed by unrealized gains for the last two quarters. These
unrealized gains/losses reflect declining BsF/USD rates (BsF - Venezuelan Bolivares Fuertes), at the end of
the first and second quarter followed by increasing BsF/USD in the third and fourth quarters. After giving
effect to these unrealized gains/losses, the losses from continuing operations show a general decline as
the Company undertook significant cost reductions due to the lack of progress on the Permit. The income
for the fourth quarter of 2008 also includes $6.7 million of foreign exchange gains related mostly to the
settlement of BsF denominated expenditures at Las Cristinas using U.S. dollars that have been converted
at a more favourable rate than the rate used for recording the expenditures.

•

The El Callao mining activities ceased as at September 30, 2008. The Company continues to incur
expenditures for maintaining an office at El Callao to conclude reclamation of the mines and to negotiate
a transfer of the mining concessions to the State of Venezuela. The loss in the fourth quarter of 2008
reflects a $0.5 million provision taken against VAT receivables.

Results of Operations
Continuing operations
The Company recorded losses from continuing operations for 2008 and 2007 of $21.8 million, (($0.07) per
share) and $22.2 million (($0.09) per share), respectively. The reduction in loss of $0.4 million in 2008 is mainly
due to a reduction in corporate general and administrative expenses of $8.4 million, an increase in interest
expense of ($0.2) million, a decrease in foreign exchange gain of ($9.0) million, a gain on sale of equipment
of $1.8 million and reduction in interest income of ($0.5) million.

General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses decreased 39% from $21.7 million in 2007 to $13.3 million in 2008. This
decline reflects continued reductions of expenditures as a result of reduced permitting related activities such,
as legal and advisory costs, salaries and travel expenses. Higher expenditures in 2007 reflect increased legal
and advisory costs as the Company came close to obtaining the Permit and then experienced delays from
MinAmb which resulted in additional legal expenses. Additional reductions in 2008 were achieved as a result
of reductions in salaries due to significant staff terminations and reductions in other staff complements, closing
of the Houston office, less travel, the effects of cost control measures, and lower stock-based compensation
charges. Stock-based compensation was higher in 2007 principally as a result of granting options to three new
members of senior management. In addition, the Company has not had the ability to issue options under its
existing share option plan since the date of the Annual General Meeting held on June 25, 2008.

Interest on debt
Interest on debt was $12.8 million and $12.6 million for 2008 and 2007, respectively. These amounts include
cash interest payments of $9.4 million on the $100 million notes which bear interest at 9.375% per annum,
payable semi-annually in January and July, amortization of deferred financing fees related to this debt and
amounts for interest accretion as the notes contain debt and equity components.

Foreign exchange gain
The Company recorded foreign currency gain of $2.1 million in 2008 compared to a foreign currency gain
of $11.1 million in 2007 for a net unfavourable change in 2008 of $9.0 million.
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Foreign exchange gain includes an unrealized foreign currency translation gain of $0.8 million in 2008
compared to an unrealized gain of $14.3 million in 2007 as a result of translation of future income tax liabilities
in the Venezuelan Branch. The components of the Company’s future income tax balance include a future
income tax estimate of 34% of the carrying value of costs incurred for the Las Cristinas asset recorded in
the parent entity for accounting purposes which may not have deductibility for income tax purposes in the
Venezuela Branch. These foreign currency translation gains result from the translation into U.S. dollars at
the end of each reporting period of the Venezuelan-denominated future income tax liabilities that are
recognized in connection with expenditures on the Las Cristinas asset. A strengthening of the BsF/USD
at the parallel rate in one period relative to the previous period results in an unrealized foreign currency
translation loss and vice versa.
In addition, the foreign exchange results include an unrealized gain of $0.1 million in 2008 compared to
unrealized losses of $2.3 million in 2007 which were derived from the translation into U.S. dollars at the end
of each respective period of certain Venezuelan BsF and Canadian dollar denominated assets and liabilities.
The 2008 foreign currency gain includes a realized gain of $1.2 million relating to Las Cristinas as a result of
overall declines in the parallel rate of BsF from the time of recording transactions to the time of settlement;
the 2007 foreign currency loss includes $1.9 million unrealized loss relating mostly to long-term value-added
taxes at Las Cristinas that have been converted at the parallel rate of 5.5 BsF/$ at December 31, 2007
compared to the official rate of 2.15 BsF/$ in the previous period.

Gain on sale of equipment
The gain of $1.8 million in 2008 resulted mainly from the sale of equipment in early April 2008 (prior to the
Company becoming aware of the denial of the Permit by the Director General of MinAmb) for $6.0 million
cash to two unrelated purchasers.

Interest and other income
Interest income declined from $1.1 million in 2007 to $0.6 million in 2008 as a result of significantly reduced
interest rates obtained on short-term treasury bills.

Discontinued operations - El Callao
At the end of September 2008, the Company ceased mining operations at El Callao due to the transfer of
the Revemin mill to the State of Venezuela on October 1, 2008.
The Company has maintained an estimated liability for asset retirement obligations of $2.3 million relating
to all areas affected by past mining.
The cash flows and results of operations for the El Callao operations have been separately presented for
2008 and 2007.
Cash flows used in these discontinued operations were $(1.0) million and $(4.9) million for 2008 and 2007,
respectively. Cash flows used in discontinued operations were $(1.5) million for the fourth quarter of 2008
as a result of severance payments for employees and other administrative costs.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
On December 31, 2008, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $34.5 million compared to
$16.1 million on December 31, 2007.
The change in the cash and cash equivalents balance during the year ended December 31, 2008 is reconciled
as follows ($ millions):
Cash and cash equivalents, December 31, 2007

$

Cash used in operating activities
Capital expenditures - Las Cristinas
Cash used in discontinued operations

(22.8)
(28.1)
(1.0)

Total outflow of cash and cash equivalents

(51.9)

Proceeds from sale of equipment
Cash from issuance of common shares

6.0
64.3

Total inflow of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, December 31, 2008

16.1

70.3
$

34.5

Cash Flow used in Operating Activities
Cash flows used in operating activities from continuing operations reduced by 22% in 2008; from
($22.8) million in 2008 compared to ($29.4) million in 2007.
The cash outflow of ($22.8) million incurred in 2008 was largely attributable to ($12.6) million of corporate
general and administrative expenses, cash interest payments of ($9.4) million, realized foreign exchange gain
of $1.2 million, interest income of $0.6 million and working capital requirements of ($2.6) million.
The 2007 cash outflow incurred in 2007 from operations of ($29.4) million for 2007 was largely attributable to
general and administrative expenses of ($18.5) million, cash payments for interest of ($9.4) million, realized
foreign exchange loss of ($1.0) million, interest income of $1.1 million and working capital requirements of
($2.0) million.

Investing Activities
Cash used for capital expenditures for the Las Cristinas Project was $28.1 million in 2008 compared to
$26.9 million in 2007. Capital spending at Las Cristinas has declined since peaking at $92.8 million in 2005.
In 2006, expenditures declined to $49.8 million as the majority of the engineering studies and equipment
procurement were substantially completed. Spending in 2008 and 2007 were reduced significantly due to
the delay in the issuance of the Permit. The majority of the expenditures in 2008 represent ongoing costs
for administering, securing and maintaining the Las Cristinas camp, and for storage costs for long lead time
equipment stored outside of Venezuela. The increased expenditure in 2008 was due to increased construction
activities related to restarting work on the medical facility and sewage treatment plant as part of the
Company’s obligations under the MOC. Excluding the cost of medical equipment for the clinic, which has
not been ordered at this time, the estimated cost to complete both projects is approximately $1.5 million
which is an obligation under the terms of the MOC.
The Company has determined that it is in the best interest of all stakeholders to continue to incur the
expenditures necessary to remain compliant with the MOC until at least the end of May 2009 which is the
date of expiry of the six month amicable settlement period. This period commenced with the filing of the
November 28, 2008 letter notifying the Government of Venezuela of the existence of a dispute under the
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Treaty between the Government of Canada and the Government of Venezuela. The Company has been
advised that non-compliance with the terms of the MOC may limit the Company’s options for a settlement
of the dispute. In addition, the Company intends to remain fully compliant with the MOC as it continues
to pursue a resolution for permitting Las Cristinas.
The Company has mining and milling equipment, with an original cost of approximately $61 million, in storage
in various countries. The majority of this equipment is located in the United States. The equipment is regularly
inspected and maintained while in storage. In April 2008, the Company sold some equipment but does not
currently have plans for additional equipment sales, nor does the Company have any outstanding purchase
orders for additional equipment. All of the equipment worldwide is insured under a marine insurance policy.

Financing Activities
On February 11, 2008, the Company completed a public offering of 32.89 million units at CDN$2.10 per unit
for gross proceeds of CDN$69.1 million including 4.29 million units issuable upon the exercise of the overallotment option by the syndicate of underwriters.
Each unit consists of one common share of the Company and one-half of one common share purchase
warrant. Each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase a further common share of the Company at an
exercise price of CDN$3.00 for a period expiring on the later of: (i) August 11, 2009; and (ii) nine months
following the Permit date, where the Permit date is the 45th day following the receipt by the Company
of the Permit.
The net proceeds received by the Company, after payment of issuance costs of $4.6 million, was $64.1 million.
On April 24, 2007, the Company closed a public offering of 14.4 million common shares (including 1.9 million
common shares issuable upon the exercise of an over-allotment option by the underwriters) at CDN$4.25 per
share. Net proceeds to the Company were $50.7 million.
The Company fully repaid the $3.6 million outstanding balance of the Standard Bank loan by the end of
the second quarter of 2007.

Notes Payable
At December 31, 2008, the Company’s debt consisted of $100 million principal amount, senior unsecured
notes with a coupon rate of 9.375%, due December 23, 2011. The Company may redeem the Notes, in whole
or in part, at any time after December 31, 2008 at a redemption price of between 100% and 102% of the
principal amounts of the Notes, depending on the redemption date, plus accrued and unpaid interest and
additional interest, if any, to the date of the redemption. In addition, the Company may be required to
redeem the Notes for cash under certain circumstances, such as a change in control in the Company where
the acquiror’s debt rating is below the debt rating of the Company before or after the change in control,
or where the Company ceases to beneficially own, directly or indirectly, at least a majority interest in the
Las Cristinas Project. The Company may also redeem the Notes, in whole but not in part, for cash at its
option under certain circumstances, such as a change in the applicable Canadian withholding tax legislation.
The trustee for the Noteholders has commenced an action that, if successful, could result in Crystallex having
to redeem all of the Notes of each Noteholder, who has so requested, at a price equal to 102% of the
principal amount of the Notes, together with accrued and unpaid interest to the date of purchase. The
Company believes this action is without merit and is vigorously defending this action.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
On December 31, 2008, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $34.5 million with excess cash
invested in Canadian treasury bills.
Crystallex’s principal sources of liquidity have been equity and debt financings. The Company does not expect
to generate positive cash flow after operating and corporate general and administrative expenses until the
Las Cristinas Project is operating at planned full capacity of 20,000 tonnes per day.
If and when the Company is in a position to commence development activities at Las Cristinas, it will
determine its overall funding requirements to cover the period through to commercial production at
Las Cristinas. The funding requirement will include the balance of capital required to complete the
development of Las Cristinas, and funds to meet the Company’s general and administrative expenses, debt
service and financing fees. The Company will consider various financing alternatives, including project finance
debt and other capital and equity markets opportunities. There can be no assurances that such financing
will be available, or if available, on acceptable terms.
Commencing in December 2007, the Company has undertaken a cost reduction program, which has
significantly reduced expenditures, although the reductions have been partially offset by litigation costs
incurred since the fourth quarter of 2008 and the requirement to pay certain compensation costs in cash
instead of stock options. Effective June 25, 2008, the shareholders of the Company did not confirm the stock
option plan, with the result that the Company is not permitted to grant additional stock options without
shareholders’ approval. Expenditures in Venezuela have been reduced to the minimum required to remain
in compliance with the MOC and to continue to pursue the Permit. Cost reduction efforts include reducing
personnel in Canada, the United States and Venezuela, closing the Houston office, relocating to a smaller
corporate office, ceasing all EPCM and related activities, postponing all drilling programs at Las Cristinas
and negotiating reductions in security payments at Las Cristinas by 50% on an annualized basis, which was
phased in as 25% in the second quarter of 2008 and 25% in the third quarter of 2008.
Management estimates that the available funds will be sufficient to meet the Company’s obligations and
budgeted expenditures at least until December 31, 2009, but may not be sufficient to cover its obligations
falling due in January 2010. The anticipated funding shortfall may be met in the future in a number of ways
including a future liquidity event. Accordingly, the Company has a number of financing options available to
generate sufficient cash to fund ongoing operations and service its debt requirements as they come due
including, but not limited to, the following:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

sale of equity securities
further expenditure reductions
introduction of joint venture partners
negotiated settlement with its note holders to reduce, eliminate or otherwise decrease its obligations,
particularly interest costs

There is, however, no assurance that these sources of funding or initiatives will be available to the Company,
or that they will be available on terms which are acceptable to the Company.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The Company’s significant contractual obligations and commitments, as at December 31, 2008,
are tabled below:
Millions

Less than
One Year

Notes payable
$
Interest on notes payable
Asset retirement obligations
at El Callao
Social commitments
at Las Cristinas

–
9.4

Total contractual obligations $

13.2

1-3
Years

$

100.0
18.8

4-5
Years

$

–
–

More Than
5 Years

$

–
–

Total

$

100.0
28.2

2.3

–

–

–

2.3

1.5

–

–

–

1.5

$

118.8

$

–

$

–

$

132.0

Under the terms of the MOC, the Company has undertaken to make all investments necessary to develop
and exploit the Las Cristinas deposits. Based on a revised estimate from a NI 43-101 Technical Report,
completed in November 2007, a further $254 million (exclusive of VAT) would have to be spent on
Las Cristinas to meet this obligation after the receipt of the Permit. These projected cost estimates will
be updated if and when the Company receives the Permit.
The Company’s $100 million notes mature in 2011. The Company is considering alternatives relating to the
settlement of this debt and has engaged a financial advisor to assist in assessing options, and if appropriate
to assist in negotiating, structuring and executing a settlement with the bondholders. The Company has
agreed to grant to such advisor 3,000,000 warrants to acquire common shares of the Company at C$0.30
per common share with an expiry date of three years from the date of approval of these warrants by the
TSX. In addition, the Company has agreed to pay the financial advisor a success fee of C$1 million.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements with special purpose entities.

Related Party and Other Transactions
During the year, the Company entered into the following transactions with related and other parties:
(a) Paid underwriting fees of $2.3 million (2007 - $2.3 million) to Macquarie Capital Markets Ltd. (formerly
Orion Securities Inc.) which retains the Chairman of the Company as an employee.
(b) Paid consulting fees of $NIL (2007 - $0.09 million) and office rent of $.01 million (2007 - $NIL) to
Kingsway Capital of Canada Inc. (“Kingsway”) which retains the Chairman of the Company as a director.
The office rent was paid as a result of the Company downsizing its previous head office by 50% and
sharing space with Kingsway under a subleasing arrangement with Kingsway at market rates.
The amounts charged to the Company for the services provided have been determined by negotiation among
the parties. These transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange
value which represented the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

Beyond Feasibility Construction Ready

21

Beyond Feasibility

Fourth Quarter Results
The Company reported net income from continuing operations in the fourth quarter of 2008 of $3.5 million
which is principally attributable to the aggregate of corporate general and administrative costs, and interest
expense offset by foreign exchange gains.
Administrative expenses were $2.9 million in the fourth quarter of 2008 compared to $3.3 million in the third
quarter of 2008. The general reduction reflects the Company’s reduced activity relating to Las Cristinas which
has been offset by increased legal costs relating to the various legal actions that have been commenced
against the Company.
Interest expense was $3.2 million in both the fourth and third quarters of 2008 which reflect interest of 9.375%
on the $100 million notes payable, amortization of deferred financing fee and accretion of interest on the
debt component of the notes payable.
Foreign exchange gain was $9.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2008 compared to a gain of $4.7 million
in the third quarter of 2008. These results include an unrealized foreign exchange gain on translation of future
income tax liability of $4.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2008 and a gain of $6.5 million in the third quarter
of 2008 due to the weakening of the BsF/USD at the end of each quarter relative to the previous quarter.
In addition, the income for the fourth quarter of 2008 includes $6.7 million of foreign exchange gains related
mostly to the settlement of BsF denominated expenditures at Las Cristinas using U.S. dollars that have been
converted at a more favourable rate than the rate used for recording the expenditures. These gains do not
reduce the capitalized costs.
Expenditures at Las Cristinas amounted to $11.1 million in the fourth quarter of 2008 compared to
$4.3 million in the third quarter of 2008. These expenditures were principally related to the continued
operation of the Las Cristinas camp, storage costs for long lead time equipment stored mainly in the USA and
various other countries. The increased expenditure relates primarily to adjustments to income of $3.9 million
relating to foreign exchange gains described above with a corresponding increase to the Las Cristinas
expenditures and to higher expenditures on the sewage treatment plant and medical clinic.
Cash flow used in operating activities was a deficit of $1.1 million for the fourth quarter of 2008 as compared
with a deficit of $10.3 million for the third quarter of 2008. The fourth quarter 2008 cash flow deficit from
operations was largely attributable to $2.8 million of corporate general and administrative expenses,
and positive cash flows of $2.2 million relating to working capital items.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Uncertainties
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
Canada requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements. Significant estimates used include those relating to the recoverability of property, plant and
equipment, tax provisions and future income tax balances, costs of asset retirement obligations, and
fair value of stock options and warrants.
While management believes these estimates and assumptions are reasonable, actual results could vary
significantly. The carrying value of the Company’s principal asset, the Las Cristinas Project, could be subject
to material adjustment in the event that the Company is not successful in obtaining the Permit and
financing necessary for its development.
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The critical accounting estimates and uncertainties are as follows:
Going concern
The Company’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”) and on a going concern basis of accounting which contemplates the
realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. Management has
considered all available information in assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and
satisfy its obligations as they fall due in the normal course of business, which is at least, but is not limited
to, having sufficient cash resources to fund twelve months of operations from the balance sheet date.
As at December 31, 2008, the Company has positive working capital of $26,265 including cash and cash
equivalents of $34,520. Management estimates that these funds will be sufficient to meet the Company’s
obligations and budgeted expenditures at least until December 31, 2009, but not sufficient to cover its
obligations falling due in January 2010. This uncertainty raises substantial doubt as to the validity of the going
concern basis of accounting. Although the Company has a number of funding options available, there is no
assurance that these sources of funding or initiatives will be available to the Company, or that they will be
available on terms which are acceptable to the Company. Accordingly, the Company’s financial statements
do not reflect the adjustments to the carrying values of assets and liabilities, the reported expenses and the
balance sheet classifications used, that would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue
as a going concern in the normal course of operations. Such adjustments could be material.
Mineral properties and equipment
The Company evaluates the recoverability of the carrying amount of the Las Cristinas property when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying value may not be recoverable. This evaluation requires the
comparison of the undiscounted future net cash flows derived from this asset with its carrying value. Estimated
future net cash flows, on an undiscounted basis, are calculated using estimated recoverable ounces of gold
(considering current proven and probable mineral reserves and the value beyond proven and probable
which includes those mineral resources expected to be converted into mineral reserves), estimated future
commodity price realization (considering historical and current prices, price trends and related factors) and
operating costs, future capital expenditures, project financing costs and reclamation costs. The amount
of the impairment loss is determined as the excess of the carrying value of the asset over its fair value,
which is measured using discounted cash flows.
Management reviews all aspects of the Las Cristinas Project for indicators of impairment when preparing
financial statements. The Company considered the circumstances of the denial of the Permit by the Director
General of the Administrative Office of Permits of MinAmb and the lack of a response to its appeal (the
“Appeal”) of this denial to the Minister of MinAmb. The Company has not received any official notification
from any government entity concerning changes to the control of Las Cristinas or to the MOC. The Company
has received confirmation from the CVG that the MOC is in full force and effect. Accordingly, the Company
has been advised that its legal right under the MOC to develop Las Cristinas is still intact.
The Las Cristinas property has been determined to contain economically recoverable reserves, senior
Venezuelan government officials continue to meet with the Company and no final decision has been made
to deny its Appeal. Accordingly, no impairment charge was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2008
under Canadian GAAP.
The Company’s ability to develop Las Cristinas and ultimately recover the capitalized costs is dependent
on obtaining the necessary permits and financing. Although the Company has been successful in obtaining
financings in the past, there can be no assurance that it will be able to do so in the event that the Permit
is received.
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Asset retirement obligations
Mining, development and exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing the
protection of the environment. The Company has recorded asset retirement obligations related to its
discontinued El Callao operations.
Significant judgements and estimates have been made in determining the nature and costs associated with
these obligations. Changes in the underlying assumptions used to estimate these obligations as well as
changes to environmental laws and regulations could cause material changes in the expected cost and
the fair value of these obligations.
Income taxes
In determining both the current and future components of income taxes, the Company interprets tax
legislation in a variety of jurisdictions as well as makes assumptions as to the expected time of the reversal
of future tax assets and liabilities. If the interpretations or assumptions differ from the tax authorities, or if
the timing of the reversal is not properly anticipated, the provision for or relief of taxes could increase or
decrease in future periods.
Fair value of notes payable
The fair value of the $100 million notes payable has been calculated using a discounted cash flow
methodology. The methodology uses the risk-free interest rate and the Company’s credit spread as inputs.
The Company’s credit spread is an unobservable input as there is limited trading of the Company’s debt in
the market. Accordingly, the Company has estimated its credit spread by reference to current yields to
maturity for debt with similar terms and risks and also by reference to the yield to maturity implicit in the
prices obtained from the limited trading of the Company’s debt.
Litigation
Crystallex is defending several legal actions brought against the Company. Crystallex believes that these
actions are without merit and intends to defend vigorously against these actions. The Company cannot
provide assurances as to the outcome of the action, nor can the range of losses, if any, be estimated.
Accordingly, no losses have been accrued. A negative outcome from any of these actions could result
in a material loss to the Company.

Changes In Accounting Policies and Future Accounting Pronouncements
Changes in accounting policies - Sections 1400 and 3031
The CICA issued new accounting standards which are effective for interim and annual consolidated
financial statements for the Company beginning on January 1, 2008.
Handbook Section 1400, “General Standards of Financial Statement Presentation”, was amended so as to
include the criteria for determining the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and presentation
in such event. Handbook Section 3031, “Inventories”, establishes standards for the measurement of
inventories, allocations of overhead accounting for write-down and disclosures.
There was no material impact to the Company’s consolidated financial statements on adoption of these
new accounting standards.
Future accounting pronouncements
(i)

The CICA has issued a new accounting standard, Handbook Section 3064 “Goodwill and Intangible
Assets”, which is effective for the Company’s interim and annual financial statements commencing
January 1, 2009. This standard establishes revised standards for recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure of goodwill and intangible assets. Concurrent with the introduction of this standard,
the CICA withdrew EIC 27, “Revenues and Expenses during the Pre-Operating Period”.
There is expected to be no impact to the Company’s consolidated financial statements on adoption
of Section 3064 effective January 1, 2009.
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(ii)

The CICA has issued EIC-173 “Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”
which is effective for the Company’s interim and annual financial statements commencing January 1,
2009. In this EIC, the Committee reached a consensus that in determining the fair value of financial assets
and financial liabilities an entity should take into account the credit risk of the entity and the counterparty.
The Company has not yet determined the impact of the adoption of this standard on its consolidated
financial statements.

(iii) In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board confirmed that International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) will replace current Canadian GAAP for publicly accountable companies.
The official change over date is for interim and annual financial statements for fiscal years beginning on or
after January 1, 2011. IFRS will be required for the Company’s interim and annual consolidated financial
statements for the fiscal year beginning on January 1, 2011. The Company is currently formulating and
developing an implementation plan to comply with the new standards and its future reporting
requirements.

Financial Instruments
The balance sheet carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable
and accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to their short-term nature. The fair value of the debt is
approximately $30 million (2007 - $82 million), calculated using a discounted cash flow methodology as
described earlier.

Outstanding Share Data
A summary of common shares, common share options and common share purchase warrants at March 31,
2009 are tabled below:
Common Shares Issued
Common Share Options
Warrants

294,817,719
10,417,522
28,695,000

Fully Diluted Common Shares

333,930,241

Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures
The Company performed an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management,
including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures as defined in the rules of the Canadian Securities Administrators (the
“CSA”) and the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Based on this evaluation, the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that such disclosure controls
and procedures were effective as at December 31, 2008.
Internal control over financial reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting
as defined in the rules of the CSA and the SEC and has designed such internal control over financial reporting
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles, including a reconciliation to United States generally accepted accounting principles.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting

Beyond Feasibility Construction Ready

25

Beyond Feasibility

principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
policies or procedures may deteriorate.
The Company performed an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management,
including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2008, including steps taken by the Company in 2008 to
remediate material weaknesses identified as at December 31, 2007 as described below. Based on this
evaluation, management has concluded that such internal control over financial reporting was effective as
at December 31, 2008. This evaluation was based on the criteria set forth in “Internal Control-Integrated
Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”).
The effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2008 has been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent auditors, as stated in their report that accompanies the
Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.
Remediation of weaknesses in internal controls identified in 2007 and changes to internal controls
in 2008
As of December 31, 2008, the Company has remediated the material weaknesses identified as at
December 31, 2007 as follows:
(a) There are insufficient controls to monitor and prevent the override of established controls at the
Company’s subsidiaries with respect to existing policies and procedures, communication of the delegation
of authority and the timeliness of financial analysis and reporting, primarily in remote locations.
As a result of the weakness identified by management during 2007, the Company provided training
throughout the year at its locations in Venezuela using both in-house and outside advisors emphasizing
the importance of internal controls and processes and timeliness of reporting and communication and
terminating non-compliant staff as necessary to effect change and adherence to corporate policies.
Based on testing through the year ended December 31, 2008, this weakness has been fully remediated.
(b) The Company did not consistently maintain implementation of effective controls over the purchasing
function relating to the documentation of the arrangements with certain suppliers at the parent entity
level and the authorization and approval of both suppliers and services at remote locations.
As identified by management through testing during 2007, the Company has re-documented its
arrangements with certain suppliers and has, as noted in (a) above, provided training throughout the year
emphasizing the importance of the controls in the purchasing system. Staffing changes were made as
necessary to reinforce compliance and ensure corporate policies were adhered to throughout the
organization. Based on testing through December 31, 2008, this weakness has been fully remediated.
(c)

The Company did not design and maintain effective controls over the identification and recognition
of timing differences in accounting for future income taxes. This resulted in an audit adjustment to the
Company’s December 31, 2007 consolidated financial statements and the restatement of the Company’s
December 31, 2006 and 2005 consolidated financial statements with respect to mineral properties,
future income taxes and operations.
The Company has put in place a process to identify and, on an ongoing basis, monitor and assess the
treatment for both accounting and tax purposes of expenses incurred by the Company that may not be
immediately deductible for tax purposes. Based on testing through December 31, 2008, this weakness
has been fully remediated.
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Conclusion
As evidenced by the steps taken to remediate the material weaknesses noted above and the results of testing
throughout the year, management has concluded that as of December 31, 2008, the Company maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting.
Changes in Internal Control
During the year ended December 31, 2008, there were no significant changes other than those described
above in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected or are
reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.

U.S. GAAP Results Pertaining to Las Cristinas
Under Canadian GAAP, mineral properties, including exploration, development and acquisition costs, are
carried at cost until the properties to which they relate are placed into production, sold or where management
has determined there to be a permanent impairment in value.
Under U.S. GAAP and practices established by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) all mine project related costs incurred before a commercially mineable deposit is established are
expensed as incurred. A commercially mineable deposit is defined as one with proven and probable reserves
which could be legally extracted or produced based on a final feasibility study. Once a commercially mineable
deposit is established all additional costs incurred to bring the mine into production are capitalized as
development costs.
As at December 31, 2008, the Company reviewed its policy of continued capitalization of mineral property
expenditures as a result of the protracted delay in the receipt of the Permit to develop Las Cristinas. In fiscal
2004, the Company commenced the capitalization of mineral property expenditures upon the completion of
a positive feasibility study in May 2004. At that time the Company felt that the receipt of the Permit to legally
commence development of the mine was perfunctory. At December 31, 2008, the Company concluded that
given the protracted delay in the receipt of the Permit to develop Las Cristinas, the strict legal criterion of
having necessary permits to exploit the reserves under SEC Industry Guide 7 would not be met. Accordingly,
under U.S. GAAP, the Company wrote down the Las Cristinas mineral property expenditures by $198 million
to the carrying value of its acquisition costs and cost of equipment.

RISK FACTORS
The business and operations of the Company and its affiliates are subject to risks. In addition to considering
the other information in the Company’s 2008 Annual Information Form, which is available on SEDAR at
www.sedar.com, an investor should carefully consider the following factors. Any of the following risks
could have a material adverse effect on the Company, its business and future prospects.

Risks Associated with Operating in Developing Countries
The Company’s mineral exploration and mining operations are located in Venezuela and may be adversely
affected by political instability and legal and economic uncertainty that might exist in such country. The risks
associated with the Company’s foreign operations may include political unrest, labour disputes, invalidation
of governmental orders, permits, agreements or property rights, risk of corruption including violations under
U.S. and Canadian foreign corrupt practices statutes, military repression, war, civil disturbances, criminal and
terrorist actions, arbitrary changes in laws, regulations and policies, taxation, price controls, exchange controls,
delays in obtaining or the inability to obtain necessary permits, opposition to mining from environmental or
other non-governmental organizations, limitations on foreign ownership, limitations on the repatriation of
earnings, limitations on mineral exports, high rates of inflation and increased financing costs. These risks may
limit or disrupt the Company’s projects or operations, restrict the movement of funds or result in the
deprivation of contractual rights or the taking of property by nationalization, expropriation or other means
without fair compensation.
Beyond Feasibility Construction Ready
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RISKS SPECIFIC TO OPERATIONS IN VENEZUELA
Political and Economic Instability
The Company’s mineral properties are located in Venezuela and as such the Company may be affected by
political or economic instabilities there. The risks associated with carrying on business in Venezuela, in addition
to those highlighted above, include, but are not limited to violent crime, which is prevalent throughout the
country and includes kidnapping, smuggling and drug trafficking especially in remote areas. Changes in
resource development or investment policies or shifts in political attitudes in Venezuela may adversely affect
the Company’s business. Operations may be affected in varying degrees by government regulations with
respect to restrictions in production, price controls, export controls, exchange controls, income taxes,
expropriation of property, maintenance of claims, environmental legislation, land use, unauthorized mining
activities, land claims of local people, water use and mine safety. The effect of these factors cannot
be accurately predicted.

Environmental Permit Still Required
Development of Las Cristinas and the ultimate commencement of commercial production are dependent upon
receipt of the Permit, which will allow the Company to proceed to put in place financing to fund construction.
As the Las Cristinas Project is the Company’s only project, the continued delay in receipt of the Permit could
have a material adverse effect on the future of the Company’s business, and may result in the need for
additional financing. Neither the outcome of Crystallex’s appeal to the Minister of MinAmb nor when or
if the Permit will be granted can be ascertained with any certainty.

Exchange Controls
Venezuela currently has exchange controls that affect the ability of companies doing business in Venezuela
to convert Venezuelan source income into foreign currency. The Central Bank of Venezuela enacted such
exchange control measures in 2003 in order to protect international reserves. The exchange rate, originally
fixed at approximately 1.6 BsF/USD, has since been adjusted twice upwards and presently stands fixed at
2.15 BsF/USD. It is likely that exchange controls will continue and, if they do, they will adversely affect the
Company’s operations, including its ability to satisfy its foreign currency obligations or to receive fair
value in U.S. dollars.

Lack of Ownership Rights
Under the Venezuelan Mining Law of 1999 (“VML”), all mineral resources belong to the Republic of Venezuela.
In accordance with the VML, the Government of Venezuela has reserved for itself the right to directly explore
and exploit the Las Cristinas deposits and has elected to do so through the CVG. See “Las Cristinas Project Mine Operating Contract” in the AIF. The Mine Operating Contract is an operating agreement and does
not transfer any property ownership rights or title rights to the gold produced to the Company. Rather, the
Company has been authorized to exploit the Las Cristinas deposits for the CVG in accordance with the Mine
Operating Contract.
The interests of the Company in the Las Cristinas deposits are contingent upon the Company continuing to
satisfy its obligations under the Mine Operating Contract. Failure to do so could result in the CVG having the
right to terminate the Mine Operating Contract. In addition, the CVG is party to an agreement dated May 16,
2002 with the Ministry of Mines (“MIBAM”). As the CVG’s rights thereunder are contingent upon the CVG
continuing to satisfy its obligations, while the Company has no reason to believe the CVG is not performing
its obligations thereunder, any failure to do so could result in MIBAM having the right to terminate such
agreement, thereby effectively terminating the Mine Operating Contract. Furthermore, any failure by the CVG
to assert its rights under its agreement with MIBAM could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
rights under the MOC. To date, no assertions of contractual breaches by the Company have been received.

28

Crystallex International Corporation 2008 Annual Report

Construction Ready

Lack of Copper Rights
In addition to gold, the Las Cristinas deposits also contain very low levels of copper, 0.11% on average.
Under the Mine Operating Contract, the Company is only entitled to exploit the gold contained in the
Las Cristinas deposits. Based on the feasibility studies carried out by the Company and following discussions
with the CVG, the Company has determined that exploiting the copper contained in the Las Cristinas deposits
would detract from the economics of the Las Cristinas Project. Furthermore, it may not be technically viable
to produce a marketable copper concentrate from the main Las Cristinas deposit as the copper is too low
grade. The Company does not need the right to exploit the copper contained in the Las Cristinas deposits
in order to exploit the gold and does not currently intend to negotiate with the CVG for the right to
exploit the copper contained in the Las Cristinas deposits.
Although the Company does not believe that the MIBAM would do so, the MIBAM retains the right to grant
exploitation and other rights with respect to the copper contained in the Las Cristinas deposits to the CVG
or a third party. The Company has been advised by its Venezuelan counsel that:
(a) if the MIBAM grants the right to exploit the copper contained in the Las Cristinas deposits to the CVG,
subject to fulfilling all necessary requirements of Venezuelan law (including the additional grant by the
MIBAM to the CVG of the right to negotiate the exploitation of the copper with third parties), the CVG
has agreed under the terms of the Mine Operating Contract to negotiate the exploitation of the copper
with the Company; and
(b) if the MIBAM grants the right to exploit the copper contained in the Las Cristinas deposits to a third
party, the Company’s right under the Mine Operating Contract to exploit the gold contained in the
Las Cristinas deposits would, as a matter of Venezuelan law, take precedence over the third party’s
right to exploit the copper.
If the MIBAM grants the right to exploit the copper contained in the Las Cristinas deposits to the CVG, there
is a risk as to whether the MIBAM will grant to the CVG the additional right to negotiate the exploitation of
the copper with third parties or whether the Company will be able to negotiate an agreement with respect
to the exploitation of the copper with the CVG. Also, if the MIBAM grants the right to exploit the copper
contained in the Las Cristinas deposits to a third party, or if the MIBAM grants the right to exploit the copper
contained in the Las Cristinas deposits to the CVG and the CVG grants the right to exploit the copper to a
third party, there can be no assurance that the Company will be successful under Venezuelan law in asserting
that its right to exploit the gold contained in the Las Cristinas deposits takes precedence over the third
party’s right to exploit the copper.

Proposed Amendments to Mining Laws
The Company’s business may be affected by amendments or changes to mining laws, regulations and
requirements in Venezuela. At any time, a number of draft mining laws may be proposed. It is not possible to
predict when or if a draft mining bill will be enacted into law or what the final provisions of such law will be,
if enacted. It is possible that the Government of Venezuela will issue further decrees or otherwise attempt to
modify existing mining rights or other laws affecting the Company, its Venezuelan properties and its ability to
operate in Venezuela. Any changes to current Venezuelan mining law may adversely affect the Company’s
ability to develop and operate the Company’s Venezuelan properties.

Arbitration Proceedings
The Company is a party that is interested in, but is not a party to, an ongoing arbitration. See “Legal
Proceedings - Withdrawal of MINCA Litigation - Vanessa Arbitration” in the 2008 AIF, available electronically
at www.sedar.com and www.sec.gov.
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On November 28, 2008, Crystallex delivered a letter to the Government of Venezuela notifying it of the
existence of a dispute between Crystallex and the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela (“Venezuela”) under the
Agreement between the Government of Canada and the Government of the Republic of Venezuela for the
Promotion and Protection of Investments (the “Treaty”). It is Crystallex’s desire to settle the dispute amicably
within six months. If the dispute has not been settled amicably within six months, Crystallex has the option
of submitting the dispute to international arbitration. The dispute has arisen out of various measures of
Venezuela including MinAmb’s decision dated April 14, 2008 to deny the Permit and Venezuela’s subsequent
media statements attributed to the Minister of MIBAM on November 5, 2008 regarding the status of the
Project and the MOC.

Unauthorized Miners
The Company’s operations may also be affected by the presence of unauthorized miners which is not
uncommon in the gold mining areas of the Guyana Shield area of northern South America, including
Venezuela. The methods used by unauthorized miners to extract gold are typically harmful to the environment
and may be disruptive to authorized mining operations. Although the Company, in conjunction with the local
authorities, employs strategies to control the presence of unauthorized miners, the success of these strategies
is not assured, and there is a risk that the Company’s operations may be adversely affected by the presence
of unauthorized miners.

Imataca Forest Reserve
In addition to the general risks associated with environmental regulation and liability, the Las Cristinas
deposits are located within the Imataca Forest Reserve (the “Forest Reserve”). On September 22, 2004,
Presidential Decree 3110, which establishes an ordinance plan and regulations for the use of the Forest
Reserve, permits various activities (including mining) in up to 13% of the Forest Reserve and establishes
the legal framework for such activities, was issued. Presidential Decree 3110 was issued in response to
previous Presidential Decree 1850, the latter was issued in May 1997. Decree 1850 reserved an even
larger part of the Forest Reserve for various activities and became subject to a legal challenge before the
Venezuelan Supreme Court. The Venezuelan Supreme Court issued a prohibition order on November 11, 1997
prohibiting the relevant government authorities from granting concessions, authorization and any other acts
relating to various mining activities in the Forest Reserve under Decree 1850 until the Venezuelan courts ruled
on the merits of the nullity action. It is possible that Presidential Decree 3110 could be similarly challenged
and that such challenge, if ultimately successful, could prevent the Company from exploiting or fully
exploiting the Las Cristinas deposits.
Venezuelan Decree No. 1257 establishes the environmental assessment requirements for mining projects.
The Company was advised that the Las Cristinas Project is not a new project and, accordingly, Article 40
of Decree 1257 does not apply since no significant increase in environmental impact is predicted.
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GENERAL RISK FACTORS
Current Global Financial Condition
Current financial conditions globally have been subject to increased volatility and numerous financial
institutions have either filed for bankruptcy or have been rescued by governmental authorities. Access to
financing has been negatively impacted by both sub-prime mortgages and the liquidity crisis affecting the
asset-backed commercial paper market. These factors may impact the ability of the Company to obtain loans,
financing and other credit facilities in the future and, if obtained, on terms favourable to the Company. If these
increased levels of volatility and market turmoil continue, the Company’s operations, financial conditions,
results of operations and share price could be adversely impacted.

Mineral Properties
Acquisition of title to mineral properties is a very detailed and time-consuming process. Title to, and the area
of, mineral properties may be disputed or impugned. Although the Company has investigated its title to the
mineral properties for which it holds concessions or mineral leases or licenses, there can be no assurance that
the Company has valid title to such mineral properties or that its title thereto will not be challenged or
impugned. For example, mineral properties sometimes contain claims or transfer histories that examiners
cannot verify; and transfers under foreign law often are complex. The Company does not carry title insurance
with respect to its mineral properties. A successful claim that the Company does not have title to a mineral
property could cause the Company to lose its rights to mine that property, perhaps without compensation
for its prior expenditures relating to the property. Furthermore, the MOC does not transfer any property
ownership rights to the Company.
In 2005 the Government of Venezuela announced that it would be changing the mining title regime from a
system where title was granted in the form of joint ventures or either concessions or operating contracts to
a system where all new economic interests would be granted in the form of operating contracts. In order to
effect this change, the Government advised that it would need to create a national mining company which
would be the nation’s contracting party covering the entire country of Venezuela. The Government also
indicated that, given this change in title regime, it would also be appropriate to review all existing mining
companies in a single comprehensive exercise to ensure that only companies found to be in compliance with
their existing title terms and conditions would qualify for the new title. Management understands that this
review was completed by the end of 2005; however, management is not aware of any further steps
undertaken to change the mining title regime as described above. Any such changes could, if enacted,
affect the Company’s interest in Las Cristinas. It is also possible that the Government could issue further
decrees or otherwise attempt to modify existing mining rights.

Environmental Regulation and Liability
The Company’s activities are subject to laws and regulations controlling not only mineral exploration and
exploitation activities themselves but also the possible effects of such activities upon the environment.
Environmental legislation may change and make the mining and processing of ore uneconomic or result
in significant environmental or reclamation costs. Environmental legislation provides for restrictions and
prohibitions on spills, releases or emissions of various substances produced in association with certain mineral
exploitation activities, such as seepage from tailings disposal areas that could result in environmental
pollution. A breach of environmental legislation may result in the imposition of fines and penalties or
the suspension or closure of operations.
In addition, certain types of operations require the submission of environmental impact statements and
approval by government authorities. Environmental legislation is evolving towards stricter standards, increased
fines and penalties for non-compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of proposed projects and
a heightened degree of responsibility for companies and their directors, officers and employees. Permits
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from a variety of regulatory authorities are required for many aspects of mineral exploitation activities,
including closure and reclamation. Future environmental legislation could cause additional expense, capital
expenditures, restrictions, liabilities and delays in the development of the Company’s properties, the extent
of which cannot be predicted.
In the context of environmental permits, in particular the approval of closure and reclamation plans, the
Company must comply with standards and laws and regulations which may entail costs and delays depending
on the nature of the activity and how stringently the regulations are implemented by the permitting authority.
In accordance with applicable laws, the Company has provided financial assurances by posting a Compliance
Guarantee Bond for Las Cristinas to cover the cost of reclamation activities. However, it is possible that the
Company may incur reclamation costs that are in excess of such financial assurances. While the Company
plans to establish a reserve for reclamation activities, there can be no assurance that the combination of the
reserve and financial assurances will be sufficient to meet future reclamation standards, if such standards are
materially more stringent than existing standards. The Company does not maintain environmental liability
insurance. The Company has adopted high standards of environmental compliance; however, failure with or
unanticipated changes in Venezuela’s laws and regulations pertaining to the protection of the environment
could adversely affect the Company.

Additional Funding Requirements
Under the terms of the Mine Operating Contract, the Company is required, among other things, to make all
necessary investments and complete all works necessary to reactivate the Las Cristinas deposits, to design,
construct and operate a processing plant to process gold for its subsequent commercialization and sale and to
return the mine, its installations and equipment to the CVG upon termination of the Mine Operating Contract.
In order to carry out the Las Cristinas Project and its other mining projects, the Company will need to raise
substantial additional financing.
The Company may decide to meet its additional funding requirements through one or more of non-recourse
project debt and other forms of public markets debt and equity. If the Company elects to raise commercial
bank limited recourse project debt, the Company will need to demonstrate to potential lenders compliance
with the Equator Principles, which are a set of guidelines adopted by a number of international financing
institutions to address the environmental and social issues associated with project financing transactions.
The Equator Principles are largely based on policies and guidelines established by the International Finance
Company. In this context the Company notes that it has completed an Environmental Impact Study to
international standards, which was approved by the Venezuelan Ministry of the Environment and includes
plans to comply with the Equator Principles.
The fundamentals for gold are expected to remain positive in the current year and despite the financial
market turmoil and volatility, equity issues of gold companies have been favourable under the right
conditions. Some producers have met resistance in the financing markets as credit is more restrictive and
expensive and some equity financings were completed at levels which have resulted in significant dilution.
Despite the financings that have been completed by the Company, the Company has limited access to
financial resources as a direct result of the Permit denial and there is a risk that sufficient additional financing
may not be available to the Company on acceptable terms or at all as a consequence of the Government’s
conduct. Failure to obtain such additional financing could result in a delay or the indefinite postponement
of the Las Cristinas Project and other mining projects of the Company and could also result in the Company
defaulting in the performance of its obligations under the Mine Operating Contract.
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Reserve and Resource Estimates
The Company’s reported mineral reserves and resources are estimates only. Notwithstanding the rigor with
which such estimates have been prepared, there can be no assurance that they will be recovered at the rates
estimated. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating mineral reserves and resources, including
many factors beyond the Company’s control. Such estimation is a subjective process and the accuracy of
any estimate is a function of the quantity and quality of available data and of the assumptions made and
judgements used in engineering and geological interpretation. Mineral reserve and resource estimates may
require revision (either up or down) based on actual production experience. Market fluctuations in the price
of metals, increased production costs or reduced recovery rates may render estimated mineral reserves and
resources uneconomic and may ultimately result in a restatement of mineral reserves and resources. In
addition, short-term operating factors, such as the need for sequential development of mineral deposits
and the processing of new or different ore grades, may adversely affect the Company’s profitability in any
particular accounting period.

Mineral Exploration and Exploitation
Mineral exploration and exploitation involves a high degree of risk. Unusual or unexpected formations,
formation pressures, fires, power outages, labour disruptions, flooding, explosions, tailings impoundment
failures, cave-ins, landslides and the inability to obtain adequate machinery, equipment or labour are some
of the risks involved in mineral exploration and exploitation activities. The Company has relied on and may
continue to rely on consultants and others for mineral exploration and exploitation expertise. Substantial
expenditures are required to establish mineral reserves and resources through drilling, to develop
metallurgical processes to extract the metal from the material processed and, in the case of new properties,
to develop the mining and processing facilities and infrastructure at any site chosen for mining. The economics
of exploiting mineral reserves and resources discovered by the Company are affected by many factors, many
outside the control of the Company, including the cost of operations, variations in the grade of material mined
and metals recovered, price fluctuations in the metal markets, costs of mining and processing equipment,
continuing access to smelter facilities on acceptable terms and other factors such as government regulations,
including regulations relating to foreign exchange, royalties, allowable production, tax deductibility of
expenditures, importing and exporting of minerals and environmental protection.

Uninsurable Risks
Mineral exploration and exploitation activities involve numerous risks, including unexpected or unusual
geological operating conditions, rock bursts, cave-ins, fires, floods, earthquakes and other environmental
occurrences and political and social instability. It is not always possible to obtain insurance against all such
risks and the Company may decide not to insure against certain risks as a result of high premiums or other
reasons. Should such liabilities arise, they could negatively affect the Company’s profitability and financial
position and the value of the common shares of the Company. The Company does not maintain insurance
against environmental risks.

Dependence on One Mining Property
Future results for the Company depend largely on the Las Cristinas Project, which if the Permit is not granted
may never be developed into a commercially viable mining operation. Any event, or combination thereof,
which adversely affects the Las Cristinas Project (whether the property itself or the Company’s ability to
finance and/or construct and operate a commercially viable mine on the property), would adversely impact
the Company’s future performance.
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Production Risks
The Company prepares estimates of future production for Las Cristinas. Once Las Cristinas is in production,
failure to meet these estimates could adversely affect the Company’s future profitability, cash flows and
financial position.
The Company’s actual production may vary from its estimates for a variety of reasons, including actual
ore mined varying from estimates of grade, tonnage, dilution and metallurgical and other characteristics;
short-term operating factors such as the need for sequential development of orebodies and the processing
of new or different ore grades from those planned; mine failures, slope failures or equipment failures;
industrial accidents; natural phenomena such as inclement weather conditions, floods, droughts, rock slides
and earthquakes; encountering unusual or unexpected geological conditions; changes in power costs and
potential power shortages; shortages of principal supplies needed for operation, including explosives, fuels,
chemical reagents, water, equipment parts and lubricants; labour shortages or strikes; civil disobedience and
protests; and restrictions or regulations imposed by governmental or regulatory authorities or other changes
in the regulatory environments. Such occurrences could result in damage to mineral properties, interruptions
in production, injury or death to persons, damage to property of the Company or others, monetary losses
and legal liabilities. These factors may cause a mineral deposit that has been mined profitably in the past to
become unprofitable forcing the Company to cease production. These factors also apply to the Company’s
future operations. For example, it is not unusual for new mining and processing operations to experience
unexpected problems during the start-up phase.

Regulations and Permits
The Company’s activities are subject to a wide variety of laws and regulations governing health and worker
safety, employment standards, waste disposal, protection of the environment, protection of historic and
archaeological sites, mine development and protection of endangered and protected species and other
matters. The Company is required to have a wide variety of permits from governmental and regulatory
authorities to carry out its activities. These permits relate to virtually every aspect of the Company’s
exploration and exploitation activities. Changes in these laws and regulations or changes in their enforcement
or interpretation could result in changes in legal requirements or in the terms of the Company’s permits that
could have a significant adverse impact on the Company’s existing or future operations or projects. Obtaining
permits can be a complex, time-consuming process. There is a risk that the Company will be not able to
obtain the necessary permits including any renewals thereof on acceptable terms, in a timely manner or at all.
The costs and delays associated with obtaining permits and complying with these permits and applicable laws
and regulations could stop or materially delay or restrict the Company from continuing or proceeding with
existing or future operations or projects. Any failure to comply with permits and applicable laws and
regulations, even if inadvertent, could result in the interruption or closure of operations or material fines,
penalties or other liabilities.

Gold Price Volatility
The gold price can fluctuate widely and is affected by numerous factors beyond the Company’s control,
including industrial and jewellery demand, inflation and expectations with respect to the rate of inflation, the
strength of the U.S. dollar and other currencies, interest rates, gold sales by central banks, forward sales by
producers, global or regional political or financial events, and production and cost levels in major goldproducing regions. The gold price is also subject to rapid short-term changes due to speculative activities.
During the period 1999 to 2008, the gold price fluctuated between an annual average low of U.S.$279 per
ounce and an annual average high of U.S.$872 per ounce. In 2008, the price of gold ranged from $1,024
per ounce to $693 per ounce and averaged $872 per ounce for the year.
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The market price of the common shares of the Company can be significantly affected by changes in the gold
price. In addition, the Company may be required to restate its mineral reserves and resources and write down
its investment in Las Cristinas. Any of these developments could negatively affect the Company’s financial
position. Accordingly, even if the Company produces gold at Las Cristinas, there is a risk that the gold price
will not be high enough to enable the Company to sell the gold produced by it profitably.

Currency Fluctuations
The Company’s functional and reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. A significant portion of the Company’s
operating and capital expenditures are in Venezuelan BsF and Canadian dollar. Fluctuations in exchange rate
between the U.S. dollar and both the BsF and Canadian dollar, either favourable or unfavourable, could
have a material impact on the results of operations and financial position.

Credit and Market Risks
The Company may enter into financial agreements (financial instruments) with major international banks, other
international financial institutions and other accredited third parties in order to manage underlying revenue
and future cash flow exposures arising from commodity prices. Financial instruments, which subject the
Company to market risk and concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of cash and accounts receivable.
Market risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a change in
interest rates or currency exchange rates. The Company manages the market risk associated with commodity
prices by establishing and monitoring parameters that limit the types and degree of market risk that may
be undertaken.
Credit risk is the risk that counterparty might fail to fulfil its performance obligations under the terms of a
contract. The Company limits the amount of credit exposure in cash and cash equivalents by placing these
in high quality securities issued by government agencies and financial institutions. The Company’s cash
equivalents consist of Government of Canada Treasury Bills, denominated in U.S. dollars. The Company also
has concentrations of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable as the accounts receivable are due from
the Venezuelan Tax Department.
The Company can be exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance by counterparties in connection
with metal forward and option contracts. The Company does not obtain any security to support financial
instruments subject to credit risk but mitigates this risk by dealing only with a diverse group of financially
sound counterparties and, accordingly, does not anticipate loss for non-performance. Further, the Company
minimizes its credit risk in derivative instruments by entering into transactions with high-quality counterparties
whose credit ratings are high and by monitoring the financial condition of its counterparties. The Company
continually monitors the market risk of its activities. The Company currently does not have metal forward
and option contracts.

Dependence on Key Employees
The Company’s business is dependant on retaining the services of a small number of key management
personnel. The success of the Company is, and will continue to be, to a significant extent, dependent
on the expertise and experience of the directors and senior management.
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Compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Passed by the U.S. Congress on July 30, 2002, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Sarbanes-Oxley”) requires
companies to, among other things, have management provide a report on the Company’s internal controls
with respect to financial reporting. The Company has complied with this particular aspect of Sarbanes-Oxley
for its fiscal year ended December 31, 2008. Management’s evaluation of, and report on, the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting is detailed under the section entitled Controls and Procedures. Based
on this evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting were effective as at December 31, 2008.
There can be no assurance that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting will be free of material
weaknesses in future periods, which could cause the market price of the Company’s common shares to decline
and could lead to shareholder litigation. In addition, the discovery of additional material weaknesses will likely
result in the Company having to incur costs to fix the internal controls for financial reporting as well as costs
to remediate any financial inaccuracies. Management has remediated the material weaknesses discovered in
the 2007 fiscal year. The aggregate final costs of addressing such weaknesses were not material.

Common Share Price Volatility
The market price of the common shares of the Company could fluctuate significantly based on a number
of factors in addition to those listed in this document, including:
•

the Company’s operating performance and the performance of competitors and other similar companies;

•

the public’s reaction to the Company’s press releases, other public announcements and the Company’s
filings with the various securities regulatory authorities;

•

changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by research analysts who track the common shares
or the shares of other companies in the resource sector;

•

changes in general economic conditions;

•

the arrival or departure of key personnel;

•

the current global economic crisis;

•

acquisitions, strategic alliances or joint ventures involving the Company or its competitors;

•

gold price volatility; and

•

outcomes of litigation.

In addition, the market price of the common shares of the Company are affected by many variables not
directly related to the Company’s success and are, therefore, not within the Company’s control, including
other developments that affect the market for all resource sector shares, the breadth of the public market for
the common shares and the attractiveness of alternative investments. The effect of these and other factors on
the market price of common shares on the exchanges on which the Company trades has historically made the
Company’s share price volatile and suggests that the Company’s share price will continue to be volatile in
the future.

Potential Dilution
As at March 31, 2009, the Company has outstanding options to purchase 10,417,522 common shares of
the Company and warrants to purchase 28,695,000 common shares of the Company (including 12,250,000
warrants that do not become effective until after the receipt of the Permit). The issue of common shares
of the Company upon the exercise of the options and warrants will dilute the ownership interest of the
Company’s current shareholders. The Company may also issue additional options and warrants or additional
common shares from time to time in the future. If it does so, the ownership interest of the Company’s
then current shareholders could also be diluted.
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Enforcement by Investors of Civil Liabilities
The enforcement by investors of civil liabilities under United States federal securities laws may be adversely
affected by the fact that the Company is organized under the laws of Canada, that most of its officers and
directors are residents of Canada, and that a substantial portion of the Company’s assets and the assets of
a majority of the Company’s directors and officers named in the 2008 Annual Information Form are located
outside the United States. Furthermore, it may not be possible to enforce against the Company or its
directors or officers, judgements contained in U.S. courts. The Company believes that a monetary judgement
of a Canadian court predicated solely on the Canadian civil liability regime would likely be enforceable in the
U.S. if the Canadian court in which the judgement was obtained had a basis for jurisdiction in the matter that
was recognized by a U.S. court for such purposes, but this area of the law is not free from doubt and there
is a risk that such a judgement will not be enforceable.

Operating Losses are Expected to Continue in the Near Future
The Company expects that it will continue to incur losses, and possibly incur increased losses, unless and until
the Permit is granted and Las Cristinas mine is operating at full capacity. The Company expects that this trend
will reverse if and when gold is produced from the future Las Cristinas mine in commercial quantities at prices
equal to or in excess of the prices assumed in the 20,000 TPD Feasibility Study. There can be no assurance
that the Company will become profitable in the near future.

Future Hedging Activities
The Company has not entered into forward contracts or other derivative instruments to sell gold that it might
produce in the future. Although the Company has no near-term plans to enter into such transactions, it may
do so in the future if required for project financing. Forward contracts obligate the holder to sell hedged
production at a price set when the holder enters into the contract, regardless of what the price is when the
product is actually mined. Accordingly, there is a risk that the price of the product is higher at the time it is
mined than when the Company entered into the contracts, so that the product must be sold at a price lower
than could have been received if the contract was not entered. There is also the risk that the Company may
have insufficient gold production to deliver into forward sales positions. The Company may enter into option
contracts for gold to mitigate the effects of such hedging.

No Payment of Cash Dividends in the Near Future
Given that the Company is currently in the pre-development stage for its principal property, the Las Cristinas
Project, the Company intends to retain its earnings to finance the growth and development of the business
rather than pay dividends to shareholders. The Company does not intend to declare or pay cash dividends
in the near future, nor has it done so since its inception. In the event that the Company decides to declare
and pay cash dividends in the future, such a decision will be made entirely in the discretion of the board
of directors and shall be dependent on factors such as the existing earnings, capital requirements, future
business opportunities, financing agreements and market conditions for the Company’s shares and the
underlying commodities markets.

Litigation
The Company is defending several legal actions. The Company believes that these actions are without merit
and intends to defend vigorously against these actions. The Company cannot provide assurances as to the
outcome of the action, nor can the range of losses, if any, be estimated. Accordingly, no losses have been
accrued. A negative outcome from any of these actions, or possible future actions, could result in a material
loss to the Company.
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Responsibility for Financial Reporting
The consolidated financial statements of Crystallex International Corporation (the “Company”) and all of
the information included in this annual report are the responsibility of the management of the Company and
have been approved by the Company’s Board of Directors. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Canada and reflect management’s
best estimate and judgement based on currently available information. Financial statements, by nature,
are not precise since they include certain amounts based upon estimates and judgements. When alternative
methods exist, management has chosen those it deems to be the most appropriate in the circumstances.
The Board of Directors which, among other things, is responsible for the consolidated financial statements of
the Company, delegates to management the responsibility for the preparation of the financial statements and
internal controls. The Board of Directors delegates to the Audit Committee the responsibility for ensuring that
management fulfils its responsibilities in respect of financial reporting and internal control. Each year the
shareholders appoint independent auditors to audit and report directly to them on the financial statements.
The Company’s Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors annually and is currently comprised
of three independent directors. The Committee meets regularly with management and with the independent
auditors to satisfy itself that each group is properly discharging its responsibilities and to review the financial
statements and the independent auditors’ report. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the independent auditors
appointed by the shareholders to audit the consolidated financial statements, have full and unrestricted access
to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board of Directors for consideration
in approving the financial statements for issuance to the shareholders.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting
and has designed such internal control over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, including a reconciliation
to United States generally accepted accounting principles.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
policies or procedures may deteriorate.
The Company performed an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management,
including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2008, including steps taken by the Company
in 2008 to remediate material weaknesses identified as at December 31, 2007. Based on this evaluation,
management has concluded that such internal control over financial reporting was effective as at
December 31, 2008. This assessment was based on the criteria set forth in “Internal Control-Integrated
Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”).
The remediation of material weaknesses in internal controls identified as at December 31, 2007 is detailed
in Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the year ended December 31, 2008.
The effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2008 has been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent auditors, as stated in their report that appears herein.

Management’s Report on Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company performed an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management,
including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures. Based on this evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer concluded that such disclosure controls and procedures were effective as
at December 31, 2008.

Johan van’t Hof
Chairman of the
Audit Committee

Robert Fung
Chief Executive Officer
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Chief Financial Officer
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Shareholders of Crystallex International Corporation
We have completed integrated audits of Crystallex International Corporation’s 2008 and 2007 consolidated
financial statements and of its internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2008. Our opinions,
based on our audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Crystallex International Corporation
(the Company) as at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, and the related consolidated statements
of operations, comprehensive loss and deficit, cash flows and shareholders’ equity for each of the years then
ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits of the Company’s financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
A financial statement audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 and the results
of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles.

Internal control over financial reporting
We have also audited Crystallex International Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as at
December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management
is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting includes
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based
on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as at December 31, 2008 based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
issued by the COSO.

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, ON, Canada
March 31, 2009

Comments by Auditors for US Readers on Canada-US Reporting Difference
In the United States, reporting standards for auditors require the addition of an explanatory paragraph
(following the opinion paragraph) when the consolidated financial statements are affected by conditions
and events that cast substantial doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, such as
those described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. Our report to the shareholders dated
March 31, 2009 is expressed in accordance with Canadian reporting standards which do not permit a
reference to such events and conditions in the auditors’ report when these are adequately disclosed
in the consolidated financial statements.

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, ON, Canada
March 31, 2009
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
As at December 31, 2008 and 2007
(In thousands of United States dollars except for share and per share amounts)

2008

2007

Assets
Current
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 9)
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses, deposits and other assets
Discontinued operations (Note 4)

$

Property, plant and equipment (Note 5)
Other

34,520
172
1,145
1,689

$

16,065
182
604
4,505

37,526

21,356

343,652
1,286

317,179
705

$

382,464

$

339,240

$

7,767
3,494

$

9,853
1,582

Liabilities
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Discontinued operations (Note 4)

Notes payable (Note 6)
Discontinued operations - asset retirement obligations (Note 4)
Future income taxes (Note 8)

11,261

11,435

86,746
–
16,661

83,291
1,864
14,243

114,668

110,833

561,751
33,971
11,959
(339,885)

503,489
27,124
11,959
(314,165)

267,796

228,407

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital (Note 7)
Contributed surplus
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Deficit

$

382,464

$

339,240

Nature of operations and going concern (Note 1)
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors

Robert Fung
Director

Johan van’t Hof
Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations,
Comprehensive Loss and Deficit
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(In thousands of United States dollars except for share and per share amounts)
2008

(Expenses) income
General and administrative
Interest on debt
Foreign exchange gain
Amortization of property, plant and equipment
Gain on sale of equipment
Interest and other income

$

Loss from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax (Note 4)
Net loss and comprehensive loss
Deficit, beginning of year

(13,349)
(12,830)
2,115
(77)
1,751
583

2007

$

(21,738)
(12,595)
11,072
(63)
–
1,094

(21,807)

(22,230)

(3,913)

(8,221)

(25,720)

(30,451)

(314,165)

(283,714)

Deficit, end of year

$

(339,885)

$

(314,165)

Loss per share from continuing operations
- Basic and diluted

$

(0.07)

$

(0.09)

Loss per share
- Basic and diluted

$

(0.09)

$

(0.12)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

290,958,931

256,668,551

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(In thousands of United States dollars except for share and per share amounts)

2008

Cash flows from (used in) operating activities
Loss from continuing operations for the year
Items not affecting cash:
Amortization
Interest accretion on debt
Stock-based compensation
Directors’ fees paid in shares
Unrealized gain on translation of future income taxes
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss
Gain on sale of equipment
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease in accounts receivable
Increase in prepaid expenses, deposits and other assets
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities

$

Cash flows from (used in) investing activities
Investment in property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of equipment

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities
Issuance of common shares
Debt repayments

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
from continuing operations
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents
from discontinued operations (Note 4)

(21,807)

2007

$

(22,230)

77
3,455
496
254
(808)
(135)
(1,751)

63
3,567
3,112
148
(14,322)
2,275
–

62
(533)
(2,085)

1
(1,794)
(213)

(22,775)

(29,393)

(28,097)
6,039

(26,893)
–

(22,058)

(26,893)

64,326
–

52,792
(1,472)

64,326

51,320

19,493

(4,966)

(1,049)

(7,021)

Effects of exchange rate fluctuations on cash

11

(521)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

16,065

28,573

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$

34,520

$

16,065

Supplemental disclosures with respect to cash flows (Note 9)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(In thousands of United States dollars except for share and per share amounts)
Number of
common shares
(thousands)

Amount

Number of
warrants
(thousands)

Accumulated
other
Contributed comprehensive
surplus
income

Deficit

Total

Balance at December 31, 2006
Shares issued
Public offering
Exercise of options
Settlement of promissory note
Exercise of warrants
Directors’ fees
Stock-based compensation
Loss for the year

245,424

$ 448,101

18,688

$ 23,135

$ 11,959

$(283,714)

$ 199,481

14,375
859
461
502
38
–
–

50,701
1,622
1,800
1,117
148
–
–

–
–
–
(502)
–
–
–

–
(412)
–
(236)
–
4,637
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
(30,451)

50,701
1,210
1,800
881
148
4,637
(30,451)

Balance at December 31, 2007
Shares issued
Public offering
Exercise of options
Directors’ fees
Warrants expired
Stock-based compensation
Loss for the year

261,659

$ 503,489

18,186

$ 27,124

$ 11,959

$(314,165)

$ 228,407

32,890
96
173
–
–
–

57,730
278
254
–
–
–

16,445
–
–
(5,936)
–
–

6,414
(96)
–
–
529
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
(25,720)

64,144
182
254
–
529
(25,720)

Balance at December 31, 2008

294,818

$ 561,751

28,695

$ 33,971

$ 11,959

(1)

$(339,885) (1) $ 267,796

Includes total comprehensive deficit for the twelve months ended December 31, 2008 of $327,926 (2007 - $302,206)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2008 and 2007
(In thousands of United States dollars except for share and per share amounts)

1. Nature of operations and going concern
Crystallex International Corporation (“Crystallex” or the “Company”) is engaged in the development of gold
properties in Venezuela.
(a)

Background
The Company’s principal asset is the Las Cristinas Project, currently under pre-development in Venezuela. On
September 17, 2002, the Company entered into a non-assignable Mine Operating Contract (the “Mine Operating
Contract”) with the Corporación Venezolana de Guayana (“CVG”), acting under the authority of the Ministry of
Energy and Mines of Venezuela, pursuant to Venezuelan mining law, under which the Company was granted the
exclusive right to explore, develop and exploit the Las Cristinas 4, 5, 6 and 7 properties including the processing
of gold for its subsequent commercialization and sale.
The Company is currently awaiting the decision of the Venezuelan Ministry of the Environment and Natural
Resources (“MinAmb”) for the issuance of the Authorization to Affect Natural Resources (the “Permit”) to
commence construction at Las Cristinas.
The construction and ultimate commencement of commercial production at Las Cristinas are dependent upon
receipt of the Permit which will allow management to proceed to put in place financing to fund construction. In
addition, the Las Cristinas Project is subject to sovereign risk, including political and economic instability, changes
in existing government regulations, government regulations relating to mining which may withhold the receipt of
required permits, as well as currency fluctuations and local inflation. The April 2008 communication from the
Director General of Permits at MinAmb and subsequent denial of the Company’s appeal, followed by an appeal
to the Minister of MinAmb in June 2008 with no decision being received to date, demonstrate the significant risks
that the Las Cristinas Project faces. The Company, nonetheless, has made specific decisions to continue to meet
its obligations under the Mine Operating Contract and in March 2009 received confirmation from the CVG that
the Mine Operating Contract remains in full force and effect which provides the Company with continued control
over the Las Cristinas Project. These risks may adversely affect the investment and may result in the impairment
or loss of all or part of the Company’s investment which could be material.

(b)

Basis of presentation and going concern
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) and on the going concern basis of accounting which contemplates the realization of assets
and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. Management has considered all available
information in assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and satisfy its obligations as they
fall due in the normal course of business, which is at least, but is not limited to, having sufficient cash resources
to fund twelve months of operations from the balance sheet date.
As at December 31, 2008, the Company has positive working capital of $26,265 including cash and cash
equivalents of $34,520. Management estimates that these funds will be sufficient to meet the Company’s
obligations and budgeted expenditures at least until December 31, 2009, but may not be sufficient to cover its
obligations falling due in January 2010. This uncertainty raises substantial doubt as to the validity of the going
concern basis of accounting.
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The anticipated funding shortfall may be met in the future in a number of ways including a future liquidity event.
Accordingly, the Company has a number of financing options available to generate sufficient cash to fund
ongoing operations and service its debt requirements as they come due in order to meet such a test in the
future including, but not limited to, the following:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

sale of equity securities
further expenditure reductions
introduction of joint venture partners
negotiated settlement with its note holders to reduce, eliminate or otherwise decrease
its obligations, particularly interest costs.

There is, however, no assurance that these sources of funding or initiatives will be available to the Company, or
that they will be available on terms which are acceptable to the Company. Accordingly, these financial statements
do not reflect the adjustments to the carrying values of assets and liabilities, the reported expenses and the
balance sheet classifications used, that would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a
going concern in the normal course of operations. Such adjustments could be material.

2. Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies followed by the Company, which have been consistently applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements, except for certain new pronouncements which have been adopted effective
January 1, 2008 as described in Note 3, are summarized as follows.
Basis of presentation of consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements of Crystallex have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in Canada. These policies are consistent with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States in all material respects except as outlined in Note 15.
Principles of consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries,
all of which are controlled through the ownership of a majority voting interest. All inter-company balances and
transactions have been eliminated.
Translation of foreign currencies
The U.S. dollar is the Company’s functional and reporting currency. The currency of measurement for all of the
Company’s operations including its integrated Venezuelan operations is the U.S. dollar. In each of these operations, the
temporal method is used to re-measure local currency transactions and balances into U.S. dollars. Under the temporal
method, monetary assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars at year-end exchange rates and non-monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at historical exchange rates. Revenues, expenses and cash flows are translated at
average exchange rates, except for items related to non-monetary assets and liabilities, which are at historical rates.
Exchange gains and losses on translation of monetary assets and liabilities are included in income.
In 2003, the Venezuelan government implemented foreign exchange controls which fixed the rate of exchange
between the Venezuelan Bolivar and the U.S. dollar. Since March of 2005, the rate has been fixed at 2,150 Bolivares
(Bs) to U.S. $1.00 ($). In October of 2005, the government enacted the Criminal Exchange Law which imposes
sanctions on the exchange of Bs with foreign currency unless the exchange is made by officially designated methods.
The exchange regulations do not apply to transactions with certain securities denominated in Bs which can be
swapped for securities denominated in another currency effectively resulting in a parallel market for the Bs. Through
2006, the Company re-measured its Bs denominated transactions at the official exchange rate of Bs 2,150/$. In 2007,
based on new guidance from the AICPA’s International Practices Task Force, the Company concluded that parallel
market rate was the most appropriate rate to use to re-measure Bs transactions. Accordingly, in 2007 the Company
used the average rate received in the parallel market of Bs 4,341/$ to re-measure Bs transactions and at December 31,
2007, and subsequently, used the parallel rate to translate Bs denominated monetary items. Effective January 1, 2008,
each B was converted to 1/1000th of a Bolivar Fuerte (“BsF”) and accordingly the official exchange rate was changed
to BsF 2.15/USD.
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Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization of plant and
equipment used directly in the mining and production of gold is included in operating costs. Amortization is being
provided for using the straight-line method over the following periods, not to exceed the mine’s estimated life:
Buildings
Field vehicles
Furniture and equipment
Mill and plant
Mining equipment

5 years
5 years
5 years
20 years
10 years

Mineral properties and deferred exploration and development expenditures
Mineral exploration costs such as topographical, geochemical and geophysical studies are capitalized and carried at
cost until the properties to which they relate are placed into production, sold or where management has determined
there to be an impairment in value. Development costs incurred to access orebodies identified in the current mining
plan are expensed as incurred after production has commenced. Development costs necessary to extend a mine
beyond those areas identified in the current mining plan and which are incurred to access additional reserves are
deferred until the incremental reserves are mined. Once a mine has achieved commercial production, mineral
properties and development costs, including the mineral acquisition and direct mineral exploration costs relating
to the current mining plan, are depleted and amortized using the unit-of-production method over the estimated
life of the orebody based on proven and probable reserves.
Asset retirement obligations
The Company records a liability for its long-term asset retirement obligations, equal to the fair value of the obligation
for asset retirement, and records a corresponding increase to the carrying amount of the related asset which is
amortized and charged to amortization expense over the life of the associated asset. The liability is increased over the
period of expected cash flows with a corresponding charge to operating expenses. The fair value of the obligation
for asset retirement is re-assessed annually.
Impairment of long-lived assets
The Company evaluates the recoverability of the carrying amounts of all its producing properties and related plant and
equipment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying values may not be recoverable. This
evaluation requires the comparison of the undiscounted future net cash flows derived from these assets with the
carrying value of the assets. Estimated future net cash flows, on an undiscounted basis, are calculated using estimated
recoverable ounces of gold (considering current proven and probable mineral reserves and the value beyond proven
and probable which includes those mineral resources expected to be converted into mineral reserves), estimated
future commodity price realization (considering historical and current prices, price trends and related factors) and
operating costs, future capital expenditures, project financing costs and reclamation costs. The amount of the
impairment loss is determined as the excess of the carrying value of the asset over its fair value, which is measured
using discounted cash flows.
Non-producing mineral properties are evaluated for impairment based on management’s intentions and are written
down when the long-term expectation is that the net carrying amount will not be recovered.
Production inventories
Gold in doré, gold in process and stockpiled ore are stated at the lower of average production cost which includes
all direct and indirect costs, including amortization of equipment and facilities, and net realizable value.
Consumables and spare parts inventory are valued at the lower of average and replacement cost.
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Income taxes
The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes whereby future income taxes are
recognized for the tax consequences of differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis
of certain assets and liabilities by applying substantively enacted statutory income tax rates applicable to future years.
A valuation allowance is provided against the recorded future income tax asset when it is not more likely than not that
some or all of the future income tax assets will be realized.
Revenue recognition
Revenue from mining operations are recognized upon shipment of gold, when title has passed to the customer, when
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, and collection of the sale is reasonably assured.
Deferred financing fees and debt
Until December 31, 2006, transaction costs related to the Company’s debt financings were deferred and amortized
over the term of the related financing. Effective January 1, 2007, the Company records debt net of transaction costs.
Debt is subsequently stated at amortized cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the debt using the effective interest
method.
Loss per share
Loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the year plus outstanding warrants that are unconditionally convertible into common shares. Diluted per share
amounts are calculated using the treasury stock method. In 2008 and 2007, the potential effect of the outstanding
stock options and warrants were anti-dilutive.
Stock-based compensation plan
The Company accounts for stock options using the fair value method, whereby compensation expense for stock
options is measured at the fair value at the grant date using the Black-Scholes valuation model and is recognized over
the vesting period of the options granted. The Company does not incorporate an estimated forfeiture rate for stock
options that will not vest; rather the Company accounts for actual forfeitures as they occur.
Estimates and Uncertainties
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Canada requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Significant estimates
used include those relating to the recoverability of property, plant and equipment, tax provisions and future income
tax balances, costs of asset retirement obligations, and fair value of stock options and warrants.
While management believes these estimates and assumptions are reasonable, actual results could vary significantly.
The carrying value of the Company’s principal asset, the Las Cristinas Project, could be subject to material adjustment
in the event that the Company is not successful in obtaining the Permit and financing necessary for its development.
Comprehensive income
Comprehensive income is composed of net income and other comprehensive income (“OCI”). OCI is the change in
shareholders’ equity, which results from transactions and events from sources other than the Company’s activities.
These transactions and events include changes in the currency translation adjustment relating to self-sustaining foreign
operations and unrealized gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value of certain financial instruments. The
Company has included a Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Operations for changes in these
items commencing in the year ended December 31, 2007, while the cumulative changes in OCI are included in
accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”), which is presented as a separate category of shareholders’ equity
in the consolidated balance sheet.
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Financial instruments - recognition and measurement
Financial assets, financial liabilities and derivatives are initially recognized at fair value and their subsequent
measurement depends on their classification as described below. All financial assets or liabilities, with the exception of
those securities designated as “held-to-maturity” (“HTM”), financial assets designated as “available-for-sale” (“AFS”),
financial assets that are loans and receivables and other financial liabilities, are measured at fair value on each balance
sheet date, with changes in fair value recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.
Financial instruments classified as HTM, loans and receivables or other financial liabilities are recorded at amortized
cost. Financial instruments classified as AFS are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recorded in OCI, with
the exception of AFS equity securities that do not have quoted market prices in an active market which are measured
at cost.
Derivative instruments are carried at fair value, including those derivative instruments that are embedded in financial
or non-financial contracts which are not closely related to the host contracts. Changes in the fair values of derivative
instruments are recognized in income of the current period, with the exception of derivative instruments designated
in effective cash flow hedges or hedges of foreign currency exposure in a self-sustaining foreign operation.
Comparative figures
The comparative figures have been reclassified, where necessary, to conform to the presentation adopted for 2008.
Fair value of financial instruments
The balance sheet carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable and
accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to their short-term nature. The fair value of debt is disclosed in Note 6.

3. Changes in accounting policies and future accounting pronouncements
Changes in accounting policies - Sections 1400 and 3031
The CICA issued new accounting standards which are effective for interim and annual consolidated financial statements
for the Company beginning on January 1, 2008.
Handbook Section 1400, “General Standards of Financial Statement Presentation”, was amended so as to include
the criteria for determining the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and presentation in such event.
Handbook Section 3031, “Inventories”, establishes standards for the measurement of inventories, allocations of
overhead accounting for write-down and disclosures.
There was no material impact to the Company’s consolidated financial statements on adoption of these new
accounting standards.
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Future accounting pronouncements
(i)

The CICA has issued a new accounting standard, Handbook Section 3064 “Goodwill and Intangible Assets”,
which is effective for the Company’s interim and annual financial statements commencing January 1, 2009. This
standard establishes revised standards for recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill and
intangible assets. Concurrent with the introduction of this standard, the CICA withdrew EIC 27, “Revenues and
Expenses during the Pre-Operating Period”.
There is expected to be no impact to the Company’s consolidated financial statements on adoption of Section
3064 effective January 1, 2009.

(ii)

The CICA has issued EIC-173 “Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” which is
effective for the Company’s interim and annual financial statements commencing January 1, 2009. In this EIC, the
Committee reached a consensus that in determining the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities an
entity should take into account the credit risk of the entity and the counterparty. The Company has not yet
determined the impact of the adoption of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

(iii)

In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board confirmed that International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) will replace current Canadian GAAP for publicly accountable companies. The official change
over date is for interim and annual financial statements for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.
IFRS will be required for the Company’s interim and annual consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year
beginning on January 1, 2011. The Company is currently formulating and developing an implementation plan
to comply with the new standards and its future reporting requirements.

4. Discontinued operations
On October 1, 2008, the Revemin mill and related assets located in El Callao, Venezuela reverted by contract to the
State of Venezuela as a result of the expiry of the operating agreement relating to the mill. At the same time the
Company ceased all mining operations at the Tomi and La Victoria mines which supplied ore to this mill. The Company
is currently negotiating with the State of Venezuela the transfer of all of the Tomi and La Victoria mining concessions
which did not form part of the mill contract. Until final negotiations are settled and definitive resolutions reached, the
liability for the asset retirement obligations for all previous mining and processing activities at El Callao will remain a
liability in the Company’s financial statements. In the event that the Company is not successful in negotiating such
transfers, the Company estimates that $2,343 may be incurred to remediate the areas affected by mining activities
at El Callao.
The results of operations at El Callao have been treated as discontinued operations as the Company has no intention
of mining the concessions in this location. The Company has estimated asset retirement obligations based on
conditions as at December 31, 2008, and any gains or losses from final settlement will be recorded in the period
of determination.
Assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet include the following amounts for discontinued operations
at El Callao.
2008

Current assets
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Current portion of asset retirement obligations

Long-term portion of asset retirement obligations
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2007

$

28
–
1,661

$

987
2,142
1,376

$

1,689

$

4,505

$

1,151
2,343

$

1,015
567

$

3,494

$

1,582

$

–

$

1,864
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The results of operations at El Callao shown as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31 are as follows:
2008

Mining revenue

$

14,421

2007

$

13,565

Expenses (income)
Operations
Accretion of asset retirement obligations
Foreign exchange loss (gain)
Interest

19,746
365
(2,040)
–

19,629
211
1,289
415

Total expenses

18,071

21,544

Loss before income taxes
Income tax

(3,650)
(263)

(7,979)
(242)

Net loss

$

(3,913)

$

(8,221)

The cash flows used in discontinued operations for the years ended December 31 are as follows:
2008

Operating activities
Financing activities

2007

$

(1,049)
–

$

(4,916)
(2,105)

$

(1,049)

$

(7,021)

Asset retirement obligations of discontinued operations as at December 31 are as follows:
2008

Asset retirement obligations, beginning of year
Accretion expense
Revisions in estimated cash flows

$

Asset retirement obligations, end of year
Less: current portion

$

2,343
2,343
$

52

2,431
365
(453)

2007

–

1,211
211
1,009
2,431
567

$

1,864
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5. Property, plant and equipment
2008

Cost

Plant and equipment
Mineral properties

Accumulated
amortization
and depletion

Net book
value

$

111,800
232,282

$

430
–

$

111,370
232,282

$

344,082

$

430

$

343,652

2007

Cost

Plant and equipment
Mineral properties

Accumulated
amortization
and depletion

Net book
value

$

113,267
204,355

$

443
–

$

112,824
204,355

$

317,622

$

443

$

317,179

The aggregate costs incurred on Las Cristinas by the Company to December 31, 2008 are summarized as follows:
Cash
Plant and equipment
Exploration, development and related expenses
Property payment and finders’ fees
Future income taxes
Stock-based compensation

Non-cash

Total

$

111,370
153,592
24,978
–
–

$

–
5,732
11,192
35,230
1,558

$

111,370
159,324
36,170
35,230
1,558

$

289,940

$

53,712

$

343,652

6. Notes payable
In conjunction with a unit offering on December 23, 2004, the Company issued $100,000 principal amount senior
unsecured notes (the “Notes”) with a coupon rate of 9.375%, due on December 23, 2011 for net proceeds of $75,015
after expenses and equity allocation. Interest is payable semi-annually on January 15 and July 15 of each year,
beginning July 15, 2005. The Company may redeem the Notes, in whole or in part, at any time after December 31,
2008 at a redemption price of between 100% and 102% of the principal amounts of the Notes, depending on the
redemption date, plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional interest, if any, to the date of the redemption. In
addition, the Company may be required to redeem the Notes for cash under certain circumstances, such as a change
in control in the Company where the acquiror’s debt rating is below the debt rating of the Company before or after
the change in control, or where the Company ceases to beneficially own, directly or indirectly, at least a majority
interest in the Las Cristinas Project. The Company may also redeem the Notes, in whole but not in part, for cash at
its option under certain circumstances, such as a change in the applicable Canadian withholding tax legislation.
As described in Note 11, the trustee for the Noteholders has commenced an action that, if successful, could result in
Crystallex having to redeem all of the outstanding Notes of each Noteholder who has so requested at a price equal
to 102% of the principal amount of the notes, together with accrued and unpaid interest to the date of purchase.
The Company believes this action is without merit and is vigorously defending this action. On this basis, the Notes
continue to be classified as a long-term obligation of the Company.
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The initial carrying value of the Notes was derived from a unit structure that contained both a Note and a share
component. As a result, the share component was allocated based on the fair value of the shares issued with the Unit
offering, calculated at $21,450 with $78,550 being the discounted fair value of the Notes. The discounted fair value of
the Notes, net of expenses, is accreted up to the face value of the Notes using the effective interest rate method over
its seven year term, with the resulting charge recorded to interest expense. Interest accretion of $3,455 (2007 - $3,567)
on the Notes was expensed during the year ended December 31, 2008 as a component of interest expense.
Fair value of debt
The fair value of the debt is approximately $30,000 (2007 - $82,000), calculated using a discounted cash flow
methodology. The methodology uses the risk-free interest rate and the Company’s credit spread as inputs. As the
Company’s credit spread is an unobservable input due to limited trading of the Company’s debt in the market, the
Company has estimated its credit spread by reference to current yields to maturity for debt with similar terms and
risks and also by reference to the yield to maturity implicit in the prices obtained from the limited trading of the
Company’s debt.

7. Share capital
2008

2007

Authorized
Unlimited common shares, without par value
Unlimited Class “A” preference shares, no par value
Unlimited Class “B” preference shares, no par value
Issued
294,817,719 (2007 - 261,659,072) common shares

$

561,751

$

503,489

Warrants
As at December 31, 2008 common share purchase warrants were outstanding enabling the holders to acquire
common shares as follows:

Exercise Price

$2.45 (CDN $3.00)
$4.25

Number of
warrants
(thousands)

16,445 1
12,250 2
28,695

1. These warrants expire on the later of: (i) August 11, 2009; and (ii) six months following the date which is 45 days following
the receipt of the Permit for the Company’s Las Cristinas Project.
2. These warrants become exercisable for an eighteen month period commencing on the date which is 45 days following
the receipt of the Permit for the Company’s Las Cristinas Project.
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A summary of common share purchase warrants outstanding as at December 31 and changes during each of the years
then ended is as follows:
2008
Number of
warrants
(thousands)

2007

Weighted
average
exercise price
($)

Number of
warrants
(thousands)

Weighted
average
exercise price
($)

Balance - beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Expired

18,186
16,445
–
(5,936)

4.25
2.45
–
4.17

18,688
–
(502)
–

4.01
–
1.76
–

Balance - end of year

28,695

3.22

18,186

4.25

Stock options
During fiscal 2008, the Company had an Incentive Share Option Plan (the “Plan”) that provided for the granting of
options to executive officers, directors, employees and service providers of the Company. Under the Plan, the exercise
price of each option cannot be less than the closing price of the Company’s common shares on the Toronto Stock
Exchange, on the trading day immediately preceding the date of the grant. Stock options granted to service providers
and employees, executive officers, and directors have a life of two, five and ten years, respectively. Stock options
may vest immediately, or over periods ranging from one year to three years. In June 2007, the shareholders of the
Company approved amendments to the Plan whereby the Board of Directors may permit an optionee to elect to
receive without payment by the optionee of any additional consideration, common shares equal to the value of options
surrendered. Effective June 25, 2008, the shareholders of the Company did not confirm the Plan, with the result that
the Company is not permitted to grant additional stock options without shareholders’ approval.
The Company determines the fair value of the employee stock options using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
The estimated fair value of the options is expensed over their respective vesting periods. The fair value of stock
options granted was determined using the following weighted average assumptions:

Risk free interest rate
Expected life (years)
Expected volatility over expected life
Expected dividend rate

2008

2007

–
–
–
–

4.10%
3.0
111%
0%

The fair value compensation recorded for options that have vested during the year ended December 31, 2008 was
$529 (2007 - $4,636) of which $496 (2007 - $3,112) was expensed and $33 (2007 - $1,525) was capitalized to mineral
properties.
2008

Weighted average fair value of options granted during the year - CDN$
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$

–

2007

$

2.49
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As at December 31, 2008 stock options were outstanding enabling the holders to acquire common shares as follows:
Outstanding options

Range of
exercise price
(CDN$)

Exercisable options

Number
of options
(thousands)

Weighted average
remaining
contractual
life
(years)

273
3,776
3,254
3,214

2.00
2.69
4.62
4.16

$

1.37
2.23
3.12
4.34

273
3,723
3,232
2,829

$

1.37
2.23
3.12
4.30

10,517

3.72

$

3.14

10,057

$

3.09

$1.00 to $1.50
$1.75 to $2.60
$2.65 to $3.60
$4.00 to $4.65

Weighted
average
exercise
price
(CDN$)

Number
exercisable
(thousands)

Weighted
average
exercise
price
(CDN$)

A summary of the status of the Plan as at December 31 and changes during each year then ended is as follows:
2008

2007
Weighted
average
exercise
price
(CDN$)

Number
of options
(thousands)

Weighted
average
exercise
price
(CDN$)

Number
of options
(thousands)

Balance - beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Expired
Forfeited

12,527
–
(96)
(1,451)
(463)

$

3.04
–
1.90
2.27
3.64

11,394
2,067
(864)
–
(70)

$

2.80
3.66
1.62
–
3.81

Balance - end of year

10,517

$

3.14

12,527

$

3.04

Financing Transactions
Fiscal 2008 Activity
On February 11, 2008, the Company completed a public offering of 32.89 million units at CDN$2.10 per unit for
gross proceeds of CDN$69.1 million.
Each unit consisted of one common share of the Company and one-half of one common share purchase warrant.
Each whole warrant entitles the holder to purchase a further common share of the Company at an exercise price
of CDN$3.00 for a period expiring on the later of: (i) August 11, 2009; and (ii) six months following the Permit date,
where the Permit date is the 45th day following the receipt by the Company of the Permit. Each common share
and one-half warrant were ascribed values of CDN$1.89 and CDN$0.21, respectively.
The net proceeds received by the Company, after payment of issuance costs of $4,622, was $64,144, of which
$57,730 was recorded as share capital and $6,414 was recorded as contributed surplus.
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Fiscal 2007 Activities
On April 24, 2007, the Company issued 14,375,000 common shares at CDN$4.25 per common share, in a bought deal
with a syndicate of underwriters, for proceeds of CDN$57.1 million (US$50,701) after underwriting fees and expenses.
In January and July, 2007, under the terms of the exchangeable promissory note issued by ECM (Venco) Ltd. (“ECM”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, to Corporación Vengroup, S.A. (“Vengroup”), the Company issued a total of
460,900 common shares to Vengroup as settlement of the remaining $1,800 due to Vengroup.
Shareholder Rights Plan
On October 30, 2006, the shareholders of the Company voted to ratify, confirm and approve a new shareholder Rights
Plan (the “Rights plan”) which was originally approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on June 22, 2006.
The rights issued under the Rights plan are subject to reconfirmation at every third annual meeting of shareholders
and will expire at the close of the Company’s annual meeting in 2016 (the “Expiration Time”).
Pursuant to the Rights plan, the Board of Directors declared a distribution of one right (a “Right”) for each outstanding
Common Share of the Company to shareholders of record at the close of business on the Record Date and authorized
the issuance of one Right for each Common Share issued after the Record Date and prior to the Separation Time
(described below) and the Expiration Time. The Rights will separate from the Common Shares at the time (the
“Separation Time”) which is the close of business on the eighth trading day (or such later day as determined by the
Board of Directors) after the public announcement of the acquisition of, or intention to acquire, beneficial ownership of
20% of the Common Shares of the Company by any person other than in accordance with the terms of the Rights plan.
In order to constitute a “Permitted Bid”, an offer must be made in compliance with the Rights plan and must be made
to all shareholders (other than the offeror), must be open for at least 60 days and be accepted by shareholders holding
more than 50% of the outstanding voting shares and, if so accepted, must be extended for a further 10 business day
period.

8. Income taxes
The Company did not record a benefit for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, due to the
recurrence of operating losses and the Company’s determination that it is not more likely than not that future income
tax assets will be realized.
The provision for income taxes reported differs from the amounts computed by applying the cumulative Canadian
federal and provincial income tax rates to the loss before tax provision due to the following:

Statutory tax rate

2008

2007

31.06%

35.08%

Loss from continuing operations before income tax provision

$

(21,807)

$

(22,230)

Expected income taxes recoverable
Change in valuation allowance
Change in substantively enacted tax rates
Change in foreign exchange rates
Non-deductible items
Reduction in loss carry forwards

$

(6,773)
(7,873)
2,291
10,592
1,155
608

$

(7,798)
13,007
4,870
(13,221)
3,142
–

Actual income tax provision

$

–

$

–
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The tax effects of temporary differences that would give rise to significant portions of the future tax assets and future
tax liabilities at December 31 are as follows:

2008

Future income tax assets:
Losses carried forward
Financing fees
Asset retirement obligations
Less: valuation allowance

$

Net future income tax assets
Future income tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment
Net future income taxes

$

51,754
1,306
797
(50,940)

2007

$

59,349
1,390
827
(57,938)

2,917

3,628

(19,578)

(17,871)

(16,661)

$

(14,243)

Future income tax assets are recognized to the extent that realization is considered more likely than not. Since the
Company has determined that it is not more likely than not that the future income tax assets are recoverable, the
net future income tax assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance.
The components of the Company’s future income tax balance include a future income tax estimate of 34% of
the carrying value of the Las Cristinas asset recorded in the parent entity for accounting purposes which may not
have deductibility for income tax purposes in the Venezuela Branch in the foreseeable future. The Company
recognized unrealized non-cash foreign currency translation gains of $808 during the year ended December 31, 2008
(2007 - $14,322). These translation gains result from the translation into U.S. dollars at the end of the year of the
Venezuelan-denominated future income tax liabilities that are recognized in connection with these expenditures
on the Las Cristinas asset. Such currency translation gains and losses have been recorded in the determination
of net loss.
At December 31, 2008, the Company had the following unused tax losses available for tax purposes:
Country
Year of Expiry

2009
2010
2011
2014
2015
2026
2027
2028
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Canada

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

37,090
31,439
–
14,258
29,979
22,864
20,253
22,137

Venezuela

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

149
1
4,968
–
–
–
–
–
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9. Supplemental disclosures with respect to cash flows
2008

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash
Canadian Treasury Bills with interest rate of 0.05% (2007: 2.05%)

2007

$

1,600
32,920

$

2,157
13,908

$

34,520

$

16,065

Cash paid during the years ended December 31
2008

For interest
For income taxes

$
$

9,375
340

2007

$
$

9,459
386

Investment in property, plant and equipment for the years ended December 31
2008

Net book value of property, plant and equipment
January 1
Net book value of property, plant and equipment
December 31

$

317,179

2007

$

343,652

283,407
317,179

Net increase in property, plant and equipment
Capitalization of stock compensation
Future income taxes
Amortization
Net book value of equipment sold

(26,473)
33
3,226
(77)
(4,161)

(33,772)
1,525
5,051
(63)
–

Net increase before working capital items
Changes in working capital related to
property, plant and equipment acquisitions

(27,452)

(27,259)

(645)

366

Cash investment in property, plant and equipment

$

(28,097)

$

(26,893)

Issuance of common shares for cash for the years ended December 31
2008

Cash received from:
Public offering
Exercise of options
Exercise of warrants

2007

$

64,144
182
–

$

50,701
1,210
881

$

64,326

$

52,792

Significant non-cash transactions for the years ended December 31
2008

Issuance of common shares for:
Settlement of promissory note (2007 - 460,900)
Directors’ fees, 172,489 (2007 - 38,508)
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$
$

–
254

2007

$
$

1,800
148
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10. Segmented information
The Company has one operating segment which is the development of mining properties with Las Cristinas as its
principal asset.
Substantially all of the property, plant and equipment held by the Company are in Venezuela, except for long-lead
time equipment required for the development of Las Cristinas, of which significant amounts are located temporarily
in the U.S.A. and various other countries.
Property, plant and equipment include $343,652 (2007 - $317,079) and $NIL (2007 - $100) associated with
Las Cristinas and Canada, respectively.

11. Commitments and contingencies
Las Cristinas
Under the terms of the Las Cristinas Mine Operation Contract with the CVG, the Company has undertaken to make
all investments necessary to develop and exploit the Las Cristinas deposits.
The capital cost of the project was revised to $356,000 in November 2007 (previous estimate August 2005 $293,000),
of which $102,000 has been spent to date. The capital cost estimate is subject to revision due to changing
construction and equipment costs.
The Company is committed to spend approximately $1,500 to complete certain social projects at Las Cristinas.
Claim by former employee
On May 23, 2006, the Company and certain directors and officers were served with a Statement of Claim by an
individual alleging misrepresentation, conspiracy and breach of contract, and claiming damages of approximately
CDN$1.75 million. The Company has filed its Statement of Defence and believes that there is little likelihood of any
ultimate liability. However, as the outcome of this matter cannot be determined at this time, the Company has
made no provision for this contingency as at December 31, 2008.
Action by Noteholders
In December 2008, the Company was served with a Notice of Application (the “Application”) by the trustee for the
holders (the “Noteholders”) of the $100,000 senior unsecured notes described in Note 6. The trustee, on behalf
of certain Noteholders, is, among other things, seeking a declaration from the Court that there has been a project
change of control (a “Project Change of Control”) event as defined in the First Supplemental Indenture made as
of December 23, 2004 thereby requiring Crystallex to accelerate payment and purchase all of the notes of each
Noteholder who has so requested at a price equal to 102% of the principal amount of the notes, together with
accrued and unpaid interest to the date of purchase.
A Project Change of Control is defined as “the occurrence of any transaction as a result of which Crystallex ceases
to beneficially own, directly or indirectly, at least a majority interest in the Las Cristinas Project asset”.
In the alternative, the trustee is seeking permission from the Court to commence a derivative action in the name
of and on behalf of Crystallex. The proposed derivative action is one which would require the Company to bring an
action against its entire Board of Directors. The essence of the proposed derivative action is that the Board of
Directors pursued the Las Cristinas Project for longer than it ought to have pursued it and that the directors have
allegedly mismanaged certain aspects of Crystallex’s operations in Venezuela.
The Company has strong defences to this action and is vigorously defending the Application. In particular, the
Company believes that the Noteholders’ allegation that there has been a Project Change of Control has no merit.
At this stage in the process and as the parties are still exchanging materials, the Company cannot provide an
assignment of what, if any, losses, it may suffer as a result of this proceeding.
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Proposed Class Action
The Company and certain officers and directors have been named as defendants in a putative securities fraud class
action commenced on December 8, 2008, in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York.
The plaintiffs in the lawsuit are described as investors who acquired the Company’s common stock during the period
of July 28, 2005 and April 30, 2008, inclusive (the “Proposed Class Period”). The complaint alleges that the defendants
made several statements during the Proposed Class Period about the Company’s Las Cristinas Gold Project located
in Sifontes, Venezuela, and that the issuance of the required Venezuelan government permit in connection with that
project was imminent and guaranteed to be issued to the Company. The complaint asserts that the defendants
“did not have, during the Class Period, a reasonable expectation that the Company would receive the required
permit,” and that on April 30, 2008, the Permit was, in fact, denied. The proposed class action seeks compensatory
damages plus costs and fees, alleging violations of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by each of the defendants and violations of Section 20(a)
of the Exchange Act by the individual defendants.
On February 6, 2009, certain purported purchasers of Crystallex common stock and their respective counsel have filed
motions for Appointment of Lead Plaintiff and Lead Counsel pursuant to Section 21D of the Exchange Act (the “Lead
Plaintiff Motions”). Pursuant to Stipulation and Order, dated February 12, 2009, defendants’ time to respond to the
complaint is adjourned until a time to be agreed upon after the resolution of the Lead Plaintiff Motions.
Crystallex believes that the complaint is without merit and intends to vigorously defend itself against the action.
However, because the action is in preliminary stages, the Company cannot provide assurances as to the outcome
of the action, nor can the range of losses, if any, be estimated. Accordingly, no losses have been accrued.
Advisory services
The Company has engaged a financial advisor to assist the Company in assessing options to settle the Noteholders’
claim and if appropriate assist in negotiating, structuring and executing the selected option. The Company has agreed
to grant to such advisor 3,000,000 warrants to acquire common shares of the Company at CDN$0.30 per common
share with an expiry date of three years from the impending date of approval of these warrants by the TSX. In
addition, the Company has agreed to pay a success fee of CDN$1 million to such advisor.
General
In the normal course of business, the Company may enter into contracts that contain commitments to pay amounts
dependent upon future events. Such amounts, if any, are not determinable as yet; consequently, no amounts have
been accrued in the financial statements with respect to these commitments.

12. Related party transactions
During the year, the Company entered into the following transactions with related and other parties:

(a)

Paid underwriting fees of $2,279 (2007 - $2,278) to a company which retains the Chairman of the Company
as an employee.

(b)

Paid consulting fees of $NIL (2007 - $94) and office rent of $11 (2007 - $NIL) to a company which retains the
Chairman of the Company as a director.

The amounts charged to the Company for the services provided have been determined by negotiation among the
parties. These transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange value
which represented the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.
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13. Risk Management
Credit Risk
The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents that are held in investment
accounts with major Canadian chartered banks. The Company’s investment policy limits its investments to Canadian
Government Treasury Bills.
The Company is exposed to the credit risk of Venezuelan banks which hold cash for the Company’s Venezuelan
operations. The Company limits its exposure to this risk by maintaining minimal cash balances to fund the immediate
needs of its Venezuelan subsidiaries.
The Company’s credit risk is also attributable to value added taxes receivable from the government of Venezuela.
Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments that earn interest
at market rates. Fluctuations in market rates of interest do not have a significant impact on the Company’s results
of operations due to the short-term to maturity of the investments held.
Currency Risk
The Company has operations in Venezuela, where currently there is an exchange control regime and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk from the exchange rate of the Venezuelan BsF relative to the U.S. dollar. Foreign exchange
risk is mainly derived from assets and liabilities shown in Venezuelan BsF.
The Company limits its foreign exchange risk by the acquisition of short-term financial instruments and, when possible,
minimizes its BsF monetary asset position.
As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company had the following monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies other than the U.S. dollar, shown at their equivalent amounts in Venezuelan BsF with its carrying
value in U.S. dollars:
2008
BsF(000)

Monetary assets
Monetary liabilities

2008
US $

17,833
(13,142)

Total net monetary assets

4,691

2007
BsF(000)

2007
US $

3,242
(2,389)

23,813
(8,437)

4,330
(1,534)

853

15,376

2,796

At December 31, 2008, if the BsF had weakened or strengthened by 15% against the U.S. dollar, with all other
variables held constant, post-tax income for the year would have been $111 lower or higher, respectively, as a result
of the change in the fair value of the Company’s net monetary asset denominated in U.S. dollars.
Liquidity Risk
The Company faces liquidity risk to the extent that it will be unable to settle liabilities as they come due. In order to
manage this risk, management monitors rolling forecasts of the Company’s liquidity reserve on the basis of expected
cash flow. The maturities of the Company’s financial liabilities are as follows:
1 Month
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1 to 3
Months

3 Months to
1 Year

1 Year to
5 Years

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Debt

$

1,492
–

$

5,772
–

$

3,997
–

$

–
100,000

Total

$

1,492

$

5,772

$

3,997

$

100,000
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14. Capital Management
The Company’s objective when managing capital is to maintain adequate funds to safeguard its ability to continue
as a going concern and to bring the Las Cristinas property into production. In order to achieve this objective, the
Company invests its capital in highly liquid, highly rated financial instruments. The Company manages its capital structure
and makes adjustments to it, based on the level of funds available to the Company to manage its operations. In order
to meet the Company’s objectives for managing capital, new common shares, warrants, options and/or debt may be
issued. There are no assurances that such sources of funding will be available on terms acceptable to the Company.
There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year ended December 31, 2008.
The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

15. Differences between Canadian and United States generally accepted accounting principles
The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Canada (“Canadian GAAP”) which differ from those principles that the Company would have followed
had its consolidated financial statements been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The following adjustments would be required in order to present
the financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
Balance Sheets
The impact of differences between Canadian GAAP and U.S. GAAP on the consolidated balance sheets is as follows:
2008
Canadian
GAAP

Current assets
Current assets of discontinued operations
Property, plant and equipment
Other assets

Current liabilities
Current liabilities of discontinued operations
Long-term debt
Future income taxes
Shareholders’ equity

U.S.
GAAP

Adjustments

$

35,837
1,689
343,652
1,286

$

–
–
(245,888) (a)
–

$

35,837
1,689
97,764
1,286

$

382,464

$

(245,888)

$

136,576

$

7,767
3,494
86,746
16,661
267,796

$

–
–
–
(16,661) (b)
(229,227)

$

7,767
3,494
86,746
–
38,569

$

382,464

$

(245,888)

$

136,576

2007
Canadian
GAAP

Current assets
Current assets of discontinued operations
Property, plant and equipment
Other assets

Current liabilities
Current liabilities of discontinued operations
Asset retirement obligations of discontinued operations
Long-term debt
Future income taxes
Shareholders’ equity

U.S.
GAAP

Adjustments

$

16,851
4,505
317,179
705

$

–
–
(60,306) (a)
–

$

16,851
4,505
256,873
705

$

339,240

$

(60,306)

$

278,934

$

9,853
1,582
1,864
83,291
14,243
228,407

$

–
–
–
–
(3,565)
(56,741)

$

9,853
1,582
1,864
83,291
10,678
171,666

$

339,240

$

(60,306)

$

278,934

For the purposes of reporting in accordance with U.S. GAAP, amounts referred to as contributed surplus under
Canadian GAAP are referred to as additional paid in capital.
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Statements of Operations
The impact of the differences between Canadian GAAP and U.S. GAAP on the net loss for the year would be as
follows:
2008

Net loss for the year per Canadian GAAP
Capitalization of interest to mineral properties
Writedown of mineral properties
Writeoff of future income tax liability
Adjustment to unrealized gain on translation of future income taxes

2007

$

(25,720)
12,830
(198,412)
13,096
–

$

(30,451)
13,009
–
–
(5,554)

Net loss for the year per U.S. GAAP

$

(198,206)

$

(22,996)

Net loss per share - basic and diluted

$

(0.68)

$

(0.09)

(a)
(a)
(b)
(b)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

290,958,931

256,668,551

Loss per discontinued operations, net of tax, is the same for Canadian GAAP and U.S. GAAP.
Statement of Cash Flows
The impact of the above differences between Canadian GAAP and U.S. GAAP on the combined statements of cash
flows would be as follows:
2008

Cash flows used in operating activities, Canadian GAAP
Adjustments to interest
Adjustment to unrealized gain on translation of future income taxes

$
(a)
(b)

Cash flows used in operating activities, U.S. GAAP

2007

$

(29,393)
13,009
(5,554)

(9,945)

(21,938)

(22,058)
(12,830)
–

(26,893)
(13,009)
5,554

Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities, U.S. GAAP

(34,888)

(34,348)

Cash flows provided by financing activities, Canadian and U.S. GAAP

64,326

51,320

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the year

19,493

(4,966)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations

(1,049)

(7,021)

11

(521)

16,065

28,573

Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities, Canadian GAAP
Adjustments to interest
Adjustment to unrealized gain on translation of future income taxes

(a)
(b)

Effects of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

64

(22,775)
12,830
–

$

34,520

$

16,065
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(a)

Mineral Properties and Exploration and Development Costs
Under Canadian GAAP, mineral properties, including exploration, development and acquisition costs, are carried
at cost until the properties to which they relate are placed into production, sold or where management has
determined there to be a permanent impairment in value.
Under U.S. GAAP and practices established by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
all mine project related costs incurred before a commercially mineable deposit is established are expensed as
incurred. A commercially mineable deposit is defined as one with proven and probable reserves which could
be legally extracted or produced based on a final feasibility study. Once a commercially mineable deposit is
established all additional costs incurred to bring the mine into production are capitalized as development costs.
Under Canadian GAAP, the Company has elected to expense interest costs incurred on qualifying mineral
properties in the development stage. Under U.S. GAAP, interest costs of $12,830 and $13,009 associated with
the Las Cristinas mineral properties under development have been capitalized in the years ended December 31,
2008 and 2007, respectively.
As at December 31, 2008, the Company reviewed its policy of continued capitalization of mineral property
expenditures as a result of the protracted delay in the receipt of the Permit to develop Las Cristinas. In fiscal 2004
the Company commenced the capitalization of mineral property expenditures upon the completion of a positive
feasibility study in May 2004. At that time the Company felt that the receipt of the Permit to legally commence
development of the mine was perfunctory. At December 31, 2008, the Company concluded that given the
protracted delay in the receipt of the Permit to develop Las Cristinas, the strict legal criterion of having necessary
permits to exploit the reserves under SEC Industry Guide 7 would not be met. Accordingly, under U.S. GAAP,
the Company wrote down the Las Cristinas mineral property expenditures by $198,412 to the carrying value of
its acquisition costs and cost of equipment.

(b)

Future Income Taxes
Under Canadian GAAP, the Company recorded unrealized gains on translation of future income taxes of $808
and $14,322 in 2008 and 2007, respectively. Under US GAAP, the unrealized gains recorded on translation of
future income taxes were $808 and $8,768 in 2008 and 2007, respectively.
At December 31, 2008, the Company wrote off future income tax liability of $16,661 as a result of the write-down
of mineral property expenditures as described in (a) above.
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(c)

Recent United States Accounting Pronouncements
(i)

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted FASB Statement No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”
(“SFAS 157”). The Company also applied FSP FAS 157-2 (“SFAS 157-2”), which allows for the delay of
implementation of SFAS No. 157 for certain nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities until its fiscal year
beginning January 1, 2009. SFAS 157 provides enhanced guidance for using fair value to measure assets and
liabilities and provides expanded disclosure about the extent to which companies measure their assets and
liabilities at fair value, the information used to measure fair value, and the effect of fair value measurements
on earnings. SFAS 157 applies whenever other standards require (or permit) assets or liabilities to be
measured at fair value; however, it does not expand the use of fair value in any new circumstances.
The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
position or results of operations. Also, the Company does not expect that the adoption of SFAS 157-2 for
non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities will have a material impact on consolidated its financial
position or results of operations under U.S. GAAP.

(ii)

In May 2008, FASB issued Statement No. 162, “The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles”
(“SFAS 162”). Under SFAS 162, the US GAAP hierarchy will now reside in the accounting literature
established by the FASB. SFAS No. 162 identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework
for selecting the principles used in the preparation for the financial statements in conformity with US GAAP.
The adoption of SFAS No. 162 is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
results of operations and financial position as the Company currently adheres to the hierarchy of GAAP
as presented in SFAS No. 162 in preparing its reconciliation to U.S. GAAP.

(iii) In March 2008, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 161, “Disclosure about Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities - an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133” (“SFAS 161”) which provides revised
guidance for enhanced disclosures about how and why an entity uses derivative instruments, how derivative
instruments and the related hedged items are accounted for under FAS 133, and how derivative instruments
and the related hedged items affect an entity’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows.
SFAS 161 is effective for the Company’s fiscal year beginning January 1, 2009. The adoption of SFAS 161
is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated results of operations and
financial position.
(iv) In December 2007, FASB Statements No. 141(R) (“SFAS 141(R)”), Business Combinations and No. 160
(“SFAS 160”), “Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements”. SFAS 141(R) and 160
provide standards with respect to improving, simplifying and converging the prevailing FASB accounting
and reporting standards for business combinations and non-controlling interests in consolidated financial
statements with International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) standards for business combinations
with an acquisition date in the fiscal year beginning after December 15, 2008.
SFAS 141 (R) requires an acquiring entity in a business combination to recognize all (and only) the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction; establishes the acquisition-date fair value as the
measurement objective for all assets acquired and liabilities assumed; and requires the acquirer to disclose
to investors and other users all of the information they need to evaluate and understand the nature and
financial effect of the business combination. SFAS 160 requires all entities to report non- controlling (minority)
interests in subsidiaries in the same way - as equity in the consolidated financial statements. The Company
is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of SFAS 141(R) and SFAS 160 on its consolidated financial
position and results of operations under U.S. GAAP with respect to any business combination with
acquisition dates subsequent to January 1, 2009.
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(v)

In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 142-3, “Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets”
(“FSP 142-3”) which amends the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension
assumptions used to determine the useful life of a recognized intangible asset under FASB Statement
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”). The intent of this FSP is to improve
consistency between the useful life of a recognized intangible asset under SFAS 142 and the period of
expected cash flows used to measure the fair value of the asset under FASB Statement No. 141, “Business
Combinations”. FSP 142-3 is effective for the Company’s fiscal year beginning January 1, 2009 and will be
applied prospectively to intangible assets acquired after the effective date. The Company is in the process
of determining the effect, if any, the adoption of FSP 142-3 will have on the Company’s consolidated
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

(vi) In February 2007, the FASB issued FAS 159 (“SFAS 159”), “Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities”, which allows an irrevocable option, the Fair Value Option, to report selected financial
assets and liabilities at fair value. Changes in fair value for these instruments are recorded in earnings. The
objective of SFAS 159 is to improve financial reporting by providing entities with the opportunity to mitigate
volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring related assets and liabilities differently without having
to apply complex hedge accounting provisions. SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007. The adoption of SFAS 159 did not affect the Company’s consolidated financial position
or results of operations under U.S. GAAP as it has not adopted the Fair Value Option for any of its eligible
financial instruments.
(vii) In June 2008, the FASB ratified EITF 07-05, “Determining Whether an Instrument (or Embedded Feature)
Is Indexed to an Entity’s Own Stock”. EITF 07-05 provides that an entity should use a two-step approach to
evaluate whether an equity-linked financial instrument (or embedded feature) is indexed to its own stock,
including evaluating the instrument’s contingent exercise and settlement provisions. It also clarifies the
impact of foreign currency denominated strike prices and market-based employee stock option valuation
instruments on the evaluation. EITF 07-05 is effective for the Company’s fiscal year beginning January 1,
2009. The Company is currently evaluating the impact EITF 07-05 may have on its consolidated financial
position and results of operations.
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2008
NYSE Amex

High (U.S.$)
Low (U.S.$)

2007

4th
Quarter

3rd
Quarter

2nd
Quarter

1st
Quarter

4th
Quarter

3rd
Quarter

2nd
Quarter

1st
Quarter

.81
.10

1.40
.63

2.25
.50

2.83
1.59

3.50
1.87

4.33
2.32

5.25
3.57

4.18
2.22

4th
Quarter

3rd
Quarter

2nd
Quarter

1st
Quarter

4th
Quarter

3rd
Quarter

2nd
Quarter

1st
Quarter

.87
.10

1.49
.65

2.30
.56

2.90
1.62

3.37
1.86

4.54
2.31

5.70
3.88

4.82
2.64
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High (C$)
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